
Stansted Airport Advisory Panel

Date: Tuesday, 3rd October, 2017
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber - Uttlesford District Council, Council Offices, London 

Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER

Chairman: Councillor K Artus
Members: Councillors P Fairhurst, T Farthing, M Foley, A Gerard, T Goddard, 

D Jones, G LeCount, M Lemon and H Ryles

AGENDA
PART 1

Open to Public and Press

1 Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest

To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 1 - 6

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting.

3 "Beyond the Horizon. The Future of UK Aviation". A Call for 
Evidence by HM Government on a New Aviation Strategy.

7 - 110

To consider the call for evidence by HM Government on a new UK 
Aviation Strategy.

Public Document Pack



For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510369 or 510548 
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk

General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER

Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550

Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

mailto:Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
mailto:uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
http://www.uttlesford.gov.uk/




This page is intentionally left blank



STANSTED AIRPORT ADVISORY PANEL held at COUNCIL OFFICES 
LONDON ROAD SAFFRON WALDEN at 7pm on 11 MAY 2017

Present:        Councillor K Artus (Chairman)
Councillors P Fairhurst and T Farthing 

Officers in attendance:  B Ferguson (Democratic Officer), J Pine (Planning 
Policy/DM Liaison Officer).  

SP15              APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Davey, Foley, Lodge and 
Ryles.

SP16             MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 13 FEBRUARY 2017

The minutes were received and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

SP17 UK AIRSPACE POLICY; PUBLIC CONSULTATION BY THE DEPARTMENT 
FOR TRANSPORT (DfT) 

The Panel considered a report on the DfT consultation on UK Airspace Policy.

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer presented the report. He explained the 
consultation period was from 2nd February 2017 with a closing date of 25th May 
2017. The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer had attended a regional event on 
20th April and gave an overview of the questions the DfT would like to be 
answered by consultees.  

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer said the DfT was seeking views on:

 The role of an Independent Commission on Civil Aviation Noise (ICCAN) to 
ensure noise impacts are openly considered;

 Guidance on how noise impacts on people should be assessed and used to 
inform decisions on airspace options;

 Bringing compensation policy for airspace changes in line with policy on 
changes to aviation infrastructure;

 Greater flexibility for London’s major airports, so they can adapt noise 
management to the needs of their local communities.

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer said that he intended to send the 
Council’s response via the consultation portal by 23rd May. 

Members heard the reasoning behind the consultation. It was explained that 
modernisation was required as UK airspace policy had only been changed in a 
piecemeal fashion for many decades, whilst the aviation industry had expanded 
enormously. Benefits of modernisation were identified as increased capacity; 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



reduced delays; reduced emissions and fuel consumption; reduced noise from 
overflying; and aviation safety enhancements.

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer explained the 6 main themes of the 
consultation which were set out within the consultation document. The first, and 
most significant theme was the proposal to introduce 3 tiers of airspace change 
which were also included in the CAA’s recent consultation on its revised 
airspace change process and its current consultation on its draft airspace 
design guidance.  

Tier 1 – changes relating to the permanent structure of UK Airspace
Tier 2 – changes to air traffic control procedures
Tier 3 – changes which occur over a period of time which were noticeable to 
overflown residents

The Chairman said that he felt that the distinction between tiers was far from 
clear. A Tier 2 change could theoretically affect more people than a tier 1 
change but would likely undergo a shorter consultation period, although the 
CAA has not yet been tasked by the DfT with producing a Tier 2 change 
procedure.  However, replication of existing routes using modern navigational 
guidance should be a Tier 2 change with a proportionate consultation 
procedure. 

It was agreed that there was a problem with the retrospective nature of Tier 3 
changes.  Whilst historical benchmarking data was useful, overflown residents 
could benefit from ‘advanced modelling’, where airports provided forecasts to 
show how communities would be affected in the future using a number of 
possible scenarios. Councillor Fairhurst agreed and said such data should be 
distributed to the public to keep them informed of the changes that would likely 
take place.

The Planning Policy / DM Liaison Officer explained that a key point would be 
identifying from the published data when a Tier 3 change had occurred, and 
what would be the outcome of the change.  A possibility would be to require the 
preparation of a Route Action Plan (similar to a Noise Action Plan) which the 
newly proposed Independent Commission for Civil Aviation Noise (ICCAN) 
could help supervise and monitor.

The Chairman raised a point with regards to resourcing ICCAN, which could 
function as an advisory body to local authorities and who could call on its 
expertise.  ICCAN needed a role that was midway between decision-taking and 
being just a tick-box organisation.  It ought to be able to verify the accuracy of 
data submitted to local authorities so as to be able to give some kind of quality 
assurance.  He was also concerned that setting ICCAN up as an independent 
body under the CAA might give the impression that it would be too sympathetic 
to the CAA’s views.

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer said it would be a good idea to 
recommend a three year review process initially, instead of a five year review 
as proposed by the consultation. Councillor Fairhurst added that a review 
should be held every three years and the Panel agreed this should be put 

Page 2



forward.  The Planning Policy / DM Liaison Officer also mentioned a suggestion 
made at the DfT’s recent Airspace and Noise Engagement Group meeting that 
ICCAN could have an ombudsman role for disputes that really had become 
deadlocked.

The Panel considered the issue of compensation, which was another important 
consultation theme. The consultation acknowledged the discrepancy between 
the treatment of noise impacts associated with new airport infrastructure (where 
compensation was payable upon completion of the development) and noise 
from airspace changes, where no statutory compensation rights exist. The 
Planning Policy/ DM Liaison Officer explained the four changes recommended 
by the consultation:

i) change the policy wording so compensation is payable regardless of the
type of change.
ii) change the policy wording to allow for financial assistance towards
insulation within the 63dB LAeq level or above to be applicable without the
requirement for a 3dB minimum uplift to have taken place.
iii) encourage an airspace change promoter to consider compensation for
significantly increased overflight .
iv) a requirement to offer a resident within the 69dB LAeq or higher contour an
offer of full insulation to be paid for by the airport where that resident does not
want to move.

The Panel agreed such changes were fair. Chairman Artus asked how would 
those affected by an increase in air traffic fit into the new compensation policy. 
The Planning Policy / DM Liaison officer said proposal 3 would be the most 
appropriate compensation route, and he mentioned that the CAA was preparing 
a definition of overflight for ratification by the DfT. Councillor Fairhurst said the 
operation of the compensation regime still needed to be structured around 
outcomes so that it was consistently applied.  The Chairman recommended the 
use of N-above contours.  Compensation should also be considered for Tier 3 
changes..  

In relation to the theme of making transparent airspace change decisions the 
Planning Policy/ DM Liaison Officer explained that the consultation admitted 
that was a need for:   

i) greater clarity on the Government’s approach to whether single or multiple
routes are better: and
ii) a clear framework that allows the pros and cons of different options for route
design to be compared against one another.

All members agreed transparent decision making was important and that the 
use of options analysis as set out in the consultation was the right process to 
use.  The Panel noted that the CAA was also building options analysis into its 
revised airspace change process

The Panel discussed the theme of assessing aviation noise. The Chairman 
described the current dB measurement as ‘one dimensional’ as it did not take 

Page 3



into account the amount of people affected. Instead, a number of metrics should 
be used to give authorities a better understanding of the impact of airspace 
changes.

On the theme of ongoing noise management, it was explained to the Panel  that 
the Government proposed a change to allow local authorities to become the 
competent authority for planning related noise restrictions at airports where the 
Secretary of State currently has that function, such as Stansted.  For operating 
restrictions brought forward outside the planning process the CAA would be the 
competent authority.  The Government was also proposing that noise controls 
such as departure noise limits and noise preferential routes should be set by 
the airports.   The Chairman said this was unacceptable, such limits should be 
set in consultation with the local authority and asked the Officer to put this view 
forward in the consultation.  The Chairman also queried the Government’s wish 
to align decisions on operating restrictions with land-use planning when 
planning applications are submitted.  There was a need to avoid situations 
where settlements close to airports could effectively become sterilised by those 
restrictions.

AGREED the Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer would respond to the 
consultation as per the report’s recommendations and the Panel’s 
amendments.

SP18 DRAFT AIRSPACE NATIONAL POLICY STATEMENT 

Members considered a report by the Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer 
regarding the DfT’s  consultation on the Draft Airports National Policy 
Statement; new runway capacity and infrastructure at airports in the South East 
of England.
 
The Planning Policy/ DM Liaison Officer said the draft was Heathrow centric 
and only really related to national policy as it affected the construction of the 
third runway at Heathrow.  Therefore detailed analysis was not warranted. It 
was explained that the Council’s response should be light touch in nature and 
related to issues that might have “carry over” value for future proposals for 
airport expansion. Councillor Fairhurst said the outcome of the consultation 
could have an impact on the district in future. Members agreed that the paper 
was primarily focused on a third runway at Heathrow and therefore the impact 
on Uttlesford, for the time being, was limited.  

AGREED the Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer would respond to the 
consultation as per the report’s recommendations.  

SP19 AVIATION POLICY CONSULTATION PROGRAMME 

The Planning Policy / DM Liaison Officer asked the Panel to take note of a 
consultation programme on Aviation Policy 2017-18. He briefly explained that 
an Officer response would be drawn up in relation to the guidance supporting 
airspace modernisation and, in particular, with reference to the ‘Tier 3 change’ 
procedure and what evidence/data would be required. 

Page 4



  

SP20 CHAIRMAN’S ITEM – CLACTON-DOVER ROUTE POST IMPLEMENTATION 
REVIEW

The Planning Policy/DM Liaison Officer gave a brief overview of the Council’s 
position on the Clacton-Dover route change, which was implemented just over a 
year ago. A post-implementation review was now being carried out, although 
publicity concerning the review appeared sparse, with no reference to it on 
either the CAA’s or Manchester Airport Group’s websites.  The Council had 
commented back in 2014 that the change would be premature pending wider 
consideration of SE airspace. The Chairman added that the review was not an 
official consultation, but the change had gone ahead without considering the 
impact on communities east of the airport. The Chairman explained that there 
was disagreement on the scale of the impact from the letters he had received 
from locals affected by the airspace change, although the change had resulted 
in an increase of complaints and action groups against the airport. 

Members agreed that the route change had been premature and stood by their 
original consultation response. The Chairman said the letters he had received 
from individuals affected by the change would be reviewed and the Planning 
Policy/ DM Liaison Officer would draw up a response. 

The meeting ended at 8pm. 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Stansted Airport Advisory Panel

Date: 3rd October 2017

Title: “Beyond the horizon.  The future of UK 
aviation”.  A call for evidence by HM 
Government on a new Aviation Strategy.  

Agenda Item

3

Author: Jeremy Pine, Planning Policy / 
Development Management Liaison Officer 
(01799 501460) 

Key decision:  No

Summary

1. This report is about a call for evidence by HM Government on a new UK 
Aviation Strategy.  The report summarises the call for evidence document and 
suggests how the Council should respond.  The report also explains the 
Government’s recent decision on a new night flights regime for Stansted 
Airport as this is relevant background information on emerging noise policy.  

Recommendation

2. That the Panel considers the response to the call for evidence that is set out at 
the end of this report and suggests any extra points or amendments that it 
thinks are appropriate.  The Council’s final response will be sent by officers to 
the Government via the online form.

Financial Implications

3. None.

Background Papers

4. None.

Impact 

5.  

Communication/Consultation The call for evidence runs from 21st July to 
13th October 2017.  An 80-page document 
has been published which sets out in 
Annex A the questions that the 
Government would like respondees to 
answer.  These questions seem to be 
formatted slightly differently to those set out 
in the Government’s downloadable 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



response form, which is attached at the 
end of this report.  The response form 
contains the Council’s suggested 
responses to each question.  The call for 
evidence document is also attached.

This is a call for evidence about a 
forthcoming consultation, and is the first of 
three phases leading up to the publication 
of the new UK Aviation Strategy by the end 
of 2018.  The second phase will be a series 
of consultations on topic papers, the final 
contents of which will be influenced by the 
responses to the current call for evidence.  
The broad themes of the topic papers will 
be:

- customer service
- ensuring safety and security
- building global connectivity
- encouraging competition
- growth and environmental impact
- innovation, technology and skills

The third phase will be the launch of the 
new Strategy.

SASIG held an informal meeting to discuss 
the consultation and how it should respond. 
The Council will be contributing to SASIG’s 
response, which will be at a more strategic 
level than its own.  In addition, SASIG 
intends to produce its own policy papers to 
facilitate discussions with the Government 
during the second phase of consultation.  

Community Safety To be considered by the Government.

Equalities To be considered by the Government.

Health and Safety To be considered by the Government.

Human Rights/Legal 
Implications

To be considered by the Government.

Sustainability To be considered by the Government.

Ward-specific impacts Districtwide

Page 8



Workforce/Workplace Officer and Member time in preparing and 
considering this report.

Situation

           Background

6. This is a call for evidence about the content of the Government’s new Aviation 
Strategy, which will set out the long term direction for UK aviation policy 
making for 2050 and beyond.  The Government says that the UK has been at 
the forefront of aviation growth, innovation and engineering achievement but, 
in recent years, discussions have been focused on airport capacity, especially 
in the South East.  The Government says that it will be putting consumers at 
the centre of policy making for the first time.  The Strategy will cover the whole 
country, but will focus only on where the Government could and should make 
a difference (“fixing problems”).  The Strategy will be based on the following 
aim: 

“To achieve a safe, secure and sustainable aviation sector that meets the 
needs of consumers and of a global, outward-looking Britain” (Paragraph 
2.2).

7. The Strategy will have six objectives, which headline the topic papers forming 
the second phase of the consultation.  The Strategy will be guided by three 
overarching principles – consumer focused, market driven and evidence led.  
These principles will be applied to a series of simple policy tests:

- what is the rationale for action?
- what is Government’s role? 
- what does the evidence say?
- have all the options been considered?
- what is the effectiveness of any proposed action? 

8. The Government is seeking views on the proposed aim, objectives, principles 
and policy tests in this call for evidence.  More details are included in 
Paragraphs 2.2 – 2.5 of the call for evidence document.  

9. The Panel will be aware that the Government has chosen the new Northwest 
Runway at Heathrow as its preferred option, and has recently consulted on a 
draft Airports National Policy Statement (ANPS).  The final version of the 
ANPS will set out the requirements that the applicant will need to meet in order 
to secure development consent for the preferred option at Heathrow.  The 
Government has also recently consulted on proposals to modernise the way 
airspace is managed.  The Council commented on both consultations, and the 
outcomes are awaited.  The Government expects to lay a final ANPS in 
Parliament in the first half of 2018, for a vote in the House of Commons.

Page 9



10.In July, the Government published a response to the consultation that it held 
earlier in the year on a new night flights regime for Heathrow, Gatwick and 
Stansted.  In publishing the response, the Secretary of State said: 

“The new rules we are publishing today will encourage the use of quieter aircraft at all 3 
airports by reducing the amount of noise these airports are legally allowed to make, and will 
give local residents a 5 year guarantee about the level of noise that they will be exposed to.  
This decision strikes a balance between managing the impacts on local communities by 
locking in the benefits offered by recent technological developments, with the economic 
benefits of night flights.

This decision should be seen as a signal that this Government takes this issue very seriously, 
which is why we expect a ban on scheduled night flights of 6.5 hours at an expanded 
Heathrow.  We will also explore whether there is more we can do – including considering 
further legislation – to incentivise the industry more generally to invest in the quietest aircraft 
and operate them in the quietest way.

Strong international links are critical to the future prosperity of our country, with a world-class 
hub airport and thriving aviation sector central to this.  We are committed to realising the 
economic and social benefits aviation has to offer, while taking seriously the need to balance 
this with managing the local and environmental impacts of aviation”.

A short note explaining the new night flights regime at Stansted is attached at 
the end of this report.

  
The Call for Evidence 

11.The main part of the call for evidence document is divided into six chapters, 
one for each objective.  There is a common construction to each chapter – 
context – approach to date – challenges for the future – questions for the 
strategy.  It is not proposed to go through the full detail of each chapter in this 
report, rather to set out the main issues that the Government says it intends to 
highlight in the relevant forthcoming topic papers.  There will be an opportunity 
over the next eighteen months for detailed consideration at the topic paper 
stage. There are likely to be some overlaps between the topic papers, such as 
improving connectivity and encouraging competition.

Chapter 3 – Help the aviation industry work for its customers

12.The Government wants to see continued growth in innovation in market led 
digital services as a means of reducing costs for consumers and enabling 
them to make more informed travel decisions.  Under a sub-heading “better 
ways of working”, the Government highlights foreign initiatives on baggage 
handling such as “luggage portering” where bags are collected from 
passengers before they reach the airport, and “in town check in” where bags 
can be checked in 24-hours in advance at in-town check in facilities. 

13.The Government recognises that the UK has an ageing population with an 
increasing propensity to travel, and it will be publishing a draft Accessibility 
Action Plan (AAP) in the autumn.  The AAP will have an aviation chapter, and 
consultation responses on the AAP will be considered as part of the Aviation 

Page 10



Strategy.  

14.The Government also recognises the importance of alleviating pinch points, 
and says that the provision of surface access to airports will be explored 
further in the topic paper on supporting growth.  Particular difficulties that are 
highlighted are use of commuter trains by passengers with luggage and 
general discouragement for passengers with disabilities from travelling by air.  
The Government also wants to look at how passport control can be made as 
smooth as possible as it is most people’s first experience of the UK.

15.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about access for passengers 
with disabilities, consumer choice and protection, use of data and other 
procedures to improve customer experience, dealing with disruptive 
passengers and identifying and alleviating pinch points. 

Chapter 4 – Ensure a safe and secure way to travel
 

16.The UK’s good safety record is highlighted, with continuous vigilance and risk 
reviews.  Recognising that the biggest risks come from overseas, the 
Government says that it must work to maintain high levels of public confidence 
that UK air travel is secure.  Recognition is given to the need to understand 
and mitigate potential new threats, such as cyber vulnerability.

17.The UK has historically focussed on passenger screening rather than identity 
checking or using other information about them or their journey.  The 
Government will explore whether the use of data could provide additional 
security for inbound and outbound flights.  It will also look at targeting 
resources and focussing enhanced security measures where risks may be 
higher.

18.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about security innovation 
over the next 5-10 years, standards of security at overseas airports (including 
UK funding where UK nationals are affected) and compatibility of safety 
regulations with aviation technology and business models.

Chapter 5 – Build a global and connected Britain

19.The Government says that, in the short term, it is focussed on market access 
to the 44 countries which is gained via EU-negotiated agreements.  New 
arrangements are a top priority.  In the longer term, the Strategy will consider 
whether further liberalisation could deliver greater connectivity and choice.  It 
will look at whether current priorities in existing Air Service Agreements 
(ASAs) are “well matched to where the greatest gains lie for businesses and 

Page 11



consumers” (Paragraph 5.12).

20.The Government highlights the importance of air freight to the UK economy, 
citing this as one reason why the Northwest Runway at Heathrow was chosen.  
Stansted and East Midlands (both operated by the Manchester Airports 
Group) are also mentioned.  On trade, aviation is key to economic growth and 
increased productivity and as part of its objective to support sustainable 
economic growth the Government will look at how best to encourage regional 
connectivity.

21.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about priorities for future 
ASAs, overcoming obstacles to the air freight industry, promoting exports and 
inward investment, harmonisation of standards and reducing costs of cross-
border movement.

Chapter 6 – Encourage competitive markets

22.The Government wants to see how further competition can be encouraged into 
the air traffic control sector, and wants to “test the widely-held assumption that 
the airline market is fairly competitive” (Paragraph 6.11).  Whilst the 
Government recognises that Air Passenger Duty (APD) is the only tax paid by 
the airline sector, it will explore the effect that APD has on competitiveness 
and how aviation taxation policy could support the overall objectives of the 
Strategy. 

23.The Government will look at whether the market can deliver the national and 
regional connectivity required to support economic growth, and what its role 
should be.  It will also consider whether State Aid rules distort competition and 
/ or the effective functioning of markets.

24.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about existing slot 
regulations and new slot capacity, APD, State Aid, encouraging competition in 
the provision of air traffic control services and meeting the needs of general 
aviation. 

Chapter 7 – Support growth while tackling environmental impacts

25.This is likely to be the most significant topic paper for Uttlesford as it will 
include airspace, noise, surface access, air quality and future growth beyond 
2030.

Page 12



26.There is, however, one issue which the Government says cannot wait until the 
publication of the new Strategy.  This is making use of existing unused airport 
capacity.  In Paragraph 7.20 the Government says that it: 

“agrees with the Airports Commission’s recommendation that there is a 
requirement for more intensive use of existing airport capacity and is minded 
to be supportive of all airports who wish to make best use of their existing 
runways including those in the South East”. 

27.The Government acknowledges that airports with planning restrictions would 
need to submit planning applications for airport expansion, which it considers 
should be judged on individual merit.  Issues to be taken into account in 
determining the applications will include noise, air quality and those which 
supported the imposition of the existing planning restrictions.  The 
Government is welcoming views on this proposed policy at this stage. The 
Council’s suggested response is in Question 10 of the response form.  Under 
a sub-heading “future growth beyond 2030”, the Government says it plans to 
publish revised aviation forecasts and consider whether there is a need for a 
new sustainable aviation growth framework.

28.The Government proposes to continue its policy of requiring airports to pay for 
surface access infrastructure, but will consider the need for public funding 
where there would be wider beneficiaries than just airport passengers.  The 
Government also continues to promote the production of airport master plans 
with a corresponding airport surface access strategy.

29.The Government says it continues to favour local solutions on aviation noise, 
guided by the ICAO Balanced Approach.  This reflects what was said in the 
recent consultation on airspace management and the decision on the new 
night flights regime. The Balanced Approach consists of identifying the noise 
problem at a specific airport and analysing various measures that are available 
to reduce noise using a sequential, preferred basis:

1) Reduction of noise at source
2) Land-use planning and management
3) Noise abatement operational procedures
4) Operating restrictions  

30.The Government accepts that airport growth will intensify local opposition on 
noise grounds, and the Strategy will explore whether the right incentives are in 
place to reduce noise.  It also acknowledges a challenge exists when 
“technological improvements in noise reduction do not appear to be sufficient 
to deal with the negative impacts on some communities’ quality of life” 
(Paragraph 7.32).  The Government says it will explore whether a new 
approach to reducing noise annoyance is needed, including new forms of 
compensation and community investment. It will also look at targets for noise 

Page 13



reduction and ways of monitoring and reporting noise at a national level.

31.The Government wants the Strategy to explore whether it needs to be more 
proactive in tackling air pollution from aviation.  It will need to better 
understand the impact of emissions on air quality and what more can be done 
in mitigation.  On reducing carbon emissions, the Government states that 
global action minimises the risk of competitive disadvantage to the UK aviation 
industry, but progress at a domestic level could be made including by 
encouraging the production and use of new aviation fuels.

32.The recent consultation on airspace modernisation looked at whether existing 
policies were fit for purpose.  The Strategy will consider the roles, structures 
and powers that currently exist and what changes will be needed to bring 
about airspace modernisation.

33.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about sustainable growth 
frameworks, airspace modernisation, resilience plans, planning and delivery of 
improved surface access, connectivity, balancing growth and environmental 
effects, noise reduction / targets, air quality and addressing carbon emissions.  

Chapter 8 – Develop innovation, technology and skills

34.The Government is keen to see how its approach to regulation can 
accommodate and encourage innovation rather than act as a barrier.  The 
Government is already supporting emerging markets relating to drones and 
commercial spaceflight, although there are no current regulations allowing UK 
spaceflight operations to take place.

35.The Government has noted industry concerns about shortages of science, 
technology, engineering and maths (STEM) skills, and wants also to look at 
how a more diverse mix of people could train to become pilots or engineers.  
The Panel will be aware that the Council has recently granted planning 
permission for a technical skills college at Stansted Airport in connection with 
Harlow College.

36.Questions that the topic paper will contain will be about development and 
deployment of new technology and data, role of regulatory frameworks, new 
drivers of innovation, public perception of new technology, skills shortages and 
maintaining competitiveness.

Summarising

37.The author has produced a checklist setting out what appear to be the main 
issues that the Phase 2 consultation will cover.  The list is not exhaustive, and 

Page 14



there may well be overlaps.

List in alphabetical order
Air noise, including compensation
Air Passenger Duty
Airport master planning
Airport security – UK and overseas
Air quality
Air Service Agreements
Airspace modernisation
Air Traffic Control
Border Control / cross-border movement
Carbon / other emissions
Competitiveness
Connectivity
Consumer choice
Consumer protection
Customer experience
Data collection and use
Disability awareness / access

Disruptive passengers
Exports
Freight
Future development framework 2030+
General aviation
Inward investment
New technology and its effect
Regulation
Resilience
Safety
Security innovation
Skills demand and training
Slot management and capacity
State Aid
Surface access
Sustainable aviation growth

Risk Analysis

38.

Risk Likelihood Impact Mitigating actions

The Council’s 
views are not 
taken into 
account.

1.  The 
Council will be 
responding to 
the call for 
evidence.

2.  The new 
UK Aviation 
Strategy could 
have a wide 
ranging impact 
on the District, 
depending 
upon what 
implications it 
has for the 
operation and 
growth of 
Stansted 
Airport.

Respond to the call for 
evidence.

1 = Little or no risk or impact
2 = Some risk or impact – action may be necessary.
3 = Significant risk or impact – action required
4 = Near certainty of risk occurring, catastrophic effect or failure of project.

Government decision on  a new night flights regime for Stansted Airport

Page 15



The new regime will last for 5 years until October 2022, but the Government says that 
it will recognise any airport-specific agreement that Stansted can reach with the local 
community via the local planning authority during the next 5 years, as long as there is 
suitable consultation and the ICAO Balanced Approach is followed. 

The following table summarises the new regime.  Figures in brackets relate to the 
existing regime.
 
Season Movement Limit Noise Quota Limit Quota Count for 

aircraft between 81-
83.9 EPNdB 

Winter 2017/8 5,600 (up from 5,000) 3,310 (no change) QC/0
Summer 2018 8,100 (up from 7,000) 4,650 (no change) QC/0
Winter 2018/19 – 21/22 5,600 3,310 QC/0.125
Summer 2019 - 22 8,100 4,650 QC/0.125
 Source:  DfT’s decision document dated July 2017 

The Government has recognised that Stansted operations involve an increasingly 
large number of less noisy aircraft that currently are excluded from the regime, and if 
nothing is done this number is likely to continue to increase because of, amongst 
other things, Ryanair’s future acquisitions programme of new generation Boeing 
737s.  Accordingly, aircraft with a noise signature of between 81-83.9EPNdB will now 
be brought within the scope of the new regime, meaning that they will count against 
both the movements limit and the noise quota limit.  Aircraft below 81EPNdB will 
remain exempt.  (EPNdB is the noise certification process that is used for aircraft and 
this is then translated into a “Quota Count” or QC rating for each aircraft on take-off 
and landing).

From October 2017, the movements limit will be proportionately increased to allow 
the existing number of 81-83EPNdB aircraft to continue to operate – this effectively 
amounts to “business as usual” for one year.  The noise quota limit will stay 
unchanged for the 5-year period.

From winter 2018, the 81-83EPNdB aircraft will also count against the noise quota 
limit through the creation of a new QC/0.125 category.  This means that if the airport 
then wants to operate the same number of night flights it currently does it may need 
to make adjustments to make each flight (on average) less noisy than it currently is.  
This will be particularly in summer because the airport is already very close to its 
noise quota limit.  How the airport does this is for it to decide, but it has a year’s 
grace in the meantime.  The Council supported the creation of the new QC/0.125 
category, but also wanted all aircraft below 81EPNdB to count as QC/0.125. 

The Government is not proposing to progressively reduce the movement and noise 
quota limits during the 5-year period, which is what the Council asked for.  The 
Government will not cancel the existing carry-over and overrun arrangements.  The 
Council opposed these arrangements because they do not provide certainty for 
residents over the level of night noise that they can expect in any one season.

Page 16



July 2017

Beyond the horizon
The future of UK aviation
A call for evidence on a new strategy

Page 17



Page 18



July 2017

Beyond the horizon
The future of UK aviation
A call for evidence on a new strategy

Page 19



The Department for Transport has actively considered the needs of blind and partially sighted 
people in accessing this document. The text will be made available in full on the Department’s 
website. The text may be freely downloaded and translated by individuals or organisations 
for conversion into other accessible formats. If you have other needs in this regard please 
contact the Department. 

Department for Transport 
Great Minster House 
33 Horseferry Road 
London SW1P 4DR 
Telephone 0300 330 3000 
Website www.gov.uk/dft 
General enquiries: https://forms.dft.gov.uk

 

© Crown copyright 2017

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

You may re-use this information (not including logos or third-party material) free of charge 
in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this 
licence, visit http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 
or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or 
e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk

Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

ISBN: 978-1-84864-192-1 Page 20

file:///C:\Data\WORD97\TEMPLATE\DFT\www.gov.uk\dft
https://forms.dft.gov.uk
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk


3Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Contents

Foreword 4

Executive summary 6

1. Our aviation story – past,  
present and future  8
The past – a history of success  8
The present – the importance  
of aviation to Britain 9
The future – challenges  
and opportunities  15

2. Towards a new Aviation Strategy 20
The need for a strategy 20
Proposed aim and objectives 20
Scope and policy approach 21
Process and timings 23

3. Help the aviation industry  
work for its customers 26
Context 26
Approach to date 27
Challenges for the future 29
Questions for the strategy 32

4. Ensure a safe and  
secure way to travel  34
Context 34
Approach to date 35
Challenges for the future 37
Questions for the strategy 39

5. Build a global and  
connected Britain  41
Context 41
Approach to date 41
Challenges for the future 45
Questions for the strategy 46

6. Encourage competitive markets  48
Context 48
Approach to date 48
Challenges for the future 49
Questions for the strategy 51

7. Support growth while tackling 
environmental impacts  53
Context 53
Approach to date 53
Challenges for the future 57
Questions for the strategy  62

8. Develop innovation, technology 
and skills 64
Context 64
Approach to date 64
Challenges for the future 71
Questions for the strategy 74

Glossary 75

Annex A: Questions on  
the call for evidence 77

Annex B: How to respond 80

Photographic acknowledgements 82

Page 21



4 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Foreword

Aviation matters. To a government 
which is committed to building 
a truly global Britain, it is more 
important than ever.
Britain is a great, global trading nation – home 
to one of the largest economies in the world 
with strong international trading links. At the 
heart of this lies an aviation sector which 
has led the way for generations. The UK 
was home to the first scheduled air services 
and is the birthplace of the jet engine. 
Today we have one of the largest aviation 
networks in the world and UK companies 
manufacture some of the most advanced 
aviation technology. This is an industry that 
contributes billions to our economy, supports 
thousands of jobs, strengthens the union and 
develops skills. 

Now, as we leave the European Union, it 
is more important than ever that we build 
on this success to embrace the world and 
create an outward-looking Britain that has 
the confidence to own its place on the global 
stage. This is at the core of our Industrial 
Strategy, which is a plan for a nation that 
stands tall in the world and is set up to 
succeed in the long term.

Aviation will have a central role in delivering 
this, and the issues this document seeks to 
address should be seen in that context. 

Already this government has been getting on 
with taking decisions which support aviation 
while addressing its environmental impacts.

One of my first acts as Transport Secretary 
was to approve the expansion of London City 
airport. This was followed by the negotiation 
of the first ever UN Security Council resolution 
on aviation security and working with the 
ICAO to secure an agreement across 190 
countries to tackle aviation’s CO2 emissions.

Then last year we selected a new Northwest 
runway at Heathrow as our preferred  
scheme for delivering much-needed new 
runway capacity in the South East, and have 
been consulting on proposals to modernise 
the way we manage our airspace. This has  
all been done while listening closely to what 
people have said and we will continue to  
do so.

However, as the Airports Commission noted, 
we need to continue to grow our domestic 
and international connectivity. This document 
also sets out our belief that there is a need 
for all airports in the UK to make best use 
of their existing runways, while giving due 
consideration to environmental issues, such 
as noise and air quality. We welcome your 
views on this.

Page 22



5Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Now the time is right to set our sights beyond 
the horizon and develop a new Aviation 
Strategy – one which looks beyond a new 
runway at Heathrow and sets out a long-term 
vision for the sector to 2050 and beyond. A 
vision which puts the passenger at the heart 
of what we do.

I am also clear that any new strategy must 
address the impact of aviation on local 
communities and the environment. The  
steps we have taken so far to tackle 
international emissions or address noise 
around our airports are important, but any 
future growth of aviation must take such 
impacts into account. 

A thriving aviation sector will be central to our 
future prosperity as we leave the European 
Union. A clear priority for me is to achieve 
the best possible deal for our access to 
European markets. This is a key part of the 
Government’s Brexit negotiations and will 
be separate from the Aviation Strategy. The 
purpose of this exercise is to take a longer 
term view on how we can maintain and 
strengthen our links to our European partners 
and the rest of the world; setting our sights 
on a future where the UK continues to lead 
the way.

This is not a process the government can – 
nor should – undertake on its own. We need 
to listen to what the sector, industry and 
communities have to say to get this right. 
This document seeks views on our proposed 
approach capturing everyone’s views, and 
whether we have identified the right issues to 
address. It marks the start of a conversation 
which will culminate in a new strategy. 

This is your opportunity to shape the future  
of aviation, and we look forward to working 
with you. 

Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP
Secretary of State for Transport

Page 23



6 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Executive summary

Aviation has a key role to play in helping to 
build a global Britain that is outward-looking 
and embraces the world, with a strong 
economy that supports a fairer society and 
benefits the whole of a united nation.

The UK’s aviation sector is a global success 
story. It creates jobs, encourages economic 
growth and connects us with the world. 
We have an aviation history to be proud of. 
From the first scheduled daily international 
commercial air service, to the invention of the 
jet engine, and the development of Heathrow 
as a leading aviation hub, the UK has been 
at the forefront of aviation growth, innovation 
and engineering achievement. However, 
in recent years these achievements have 
often been overlooked as discussions have 
focused on airport capacity, especially in the 
South East. The government now needs to 
look at important strategic questions about 
our aviation sector, including how it can help 
it to meet the challenges and opportunities 
of a changing world and promote sustainable 
growth.

It is the right time to create a new Aviation 
Strategy. This will set out the long-term 
direction for aviation policy making for 2050 
and beyond. In doing so it will build on 
our aviation success story in pursuit of the 
following aim:

To achieve a safe, secure and 
sustainable aviation sector that meets 
the needs of consumers and of a global, 
outward-looking Britain

The strategy will have six objectives. These 
are to:

• help the aviation industry work for its 
customers

• ensure a safe and secure way to travel

• build a global and connected Britain

• encourage competitive markets

• support growth while tackling 
environmental impacts

• develop innovation, technology and skills

The strategy will have a particular focus on 
consumers and cover the whole country. It 
will look at where government could, and 
should, make a difference. The government 
has identified a range of issues to be looked 
at in a series of themed consultation papers. 
These consultations will take place during 
2017 and 2018. A final Aviation Strategy will 
then be published by the end of 2018.

This call for evidence document is asking for 
your views on the approach the government 
is proposing to take and the issues that 
it has identified. The government wants 
to hear from the widest possible range of 
people and organisations. This includes 
the consumers of aviation services (from 
passengers to businesses), airports and 
airlines, industry organisations, private fliers, 
environmental groups and communities. 
The feedback it receives will help the 
government to decide on the direction 
and final content of the Aviation Strategy.

Page 24



7Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Page 25



8 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1. Our aviation story – past, present and future 

1.1 Aviation is a UK success story. We have 
the biggest aviation network in Europe 
and the third largest in the world, while 
London has the busiest airport system 
of any city in the world. We fly directly 
to over 370 destinations in more than 
100 countries worldwide. We also have 
the second largest aerospace sector in 
the world. Aviation creates jobs in the 
UK, encourages our economy to grow 
and connects us with the rest of the 
world as a dynamic trading nation. This 
chapter tells the story of how we have 
got to where we are today, how aviation 
continues to be important to the UK, 
and what we need to do to maintain our 
position as a global leader.

1920s/1930s 1940s/1950s 1960s/1970s 2000s/2010s1980s/1990s

Britain at the forefront of air services 
expansion
• UK commences first international aviation 

routes – to India, South Africa, Australia 
and New Zealand

• first airports built: London Gatwick, 
Luton, Birmingham, Cardiff, Liverpool, 
Manchester and Aberdeen

Liberalisation and continued innovation
• creation of further purpose built airports – 

Stansted, Bristol, Norwich, Edinburgh 
and Glasgow

• liberalisation allows private airlines 
to develop other services

• first opportunities for many people 
in the UK to travel abroad by air

• joint UK/French Concorde heralds 
supersonic air travel 

New challenges and opportunities
• heightened focus on aviation security 

post 9/11
• UK at forefront of global efforts to 

tackle environmental impacts
• new aviation technologies come 

onto the scene

Growing demand for air services
• Government develops post-war civil 

aviation framework
• Heathrow opens as London’s new 

international civil airport
• UK aerospace industry pioneers some 

significant firsts – the first commercial 
turbo-prop and all-jet airliners

A changing airline industry
• privatisations and further liberalisation 

encourages further growth
• low cost carriers emerge, driving down 

prices for passengers and providing 
greater choice

Figure 1  The history of UK aviation

The past – a history of success 
1.2 The UK has a proud aviation history. 

We led the expansion of international 
air services from the 1920s and took a 
lead role in the development of the civil 
aviation framework after the Second 
World War. Since then we have helped 
to open up the aviation market all over 
the world and have led the way with 
innovative technologies and new types 
of business models, from the first 
commercial jets to low cost travel. 

Page 26



9Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1.3 The UK’s aviation safety and security 
standards are respected all over the 
world. This, together with the fact that 
the UK is the most liberalised aviation 
sector, has given us a competitive 
advantage and helped our continued 
success. Greater levels of private 
ownership and a focus on competition 
has benefited consumers, giving them 
more choice and lower prices, while 
also helping industry and the wider 
economy. 

The present – the importance of 
aviation to Britain
1.4 This is an important time for UK 

aviation. We are already one of the 
best connected countries in the world. 
Demand for flights continues to grow.  
In 2016 British airports added new 
routes to Chile, Costa Rica, Iceland, 
Iran, Peru, Sri Lanka and the United 
States. The UK also agreed a deal with 
China and India to allow many more 
flights between our countries.

1.5 Aviation is an important part of the 
government’s Plan for Britain – which 
aims to build a confident Britain that 
embraces the world.1 The aerospace 
industry is also an example of the 
approach set out in the government’s 
consultation on Building our Industrial 
Strategy to support emerging sectors 
and innovative businesses.2

1 UK Government: Plan for Britain

2 UK Government (2017): Building our Industrial 
Strategy

1920s/1930s 1940s/1950s 1960s/1970s 2000s/2010s1980s/1990s

Britain at the forefront of air services 
expansion
• UK commences first international aviation 

routes – to India, South Africa, Australia 
and New Zealand

• first airports built: London Gatwick, 
Luton, Birmingham, Cardiff, Liverpool, 
Manchester and Aberdeen

Liberalisation and continued innovation
• creation of further purpose built airports – 

Stansted, Bristol, Norwich, Edinburgh 
and Glasgow

• liberalisation allows private airlines 
to develop other services

• first opportunities for many people 
in the UK to travel abroad by air

• joint UK/French Concorde heralds 
supersonic air travel 

New challenges and opportunities
• heightened focus on aviation security 

post 9/11
• UK at forefront of global efforts to 

tackle environmental impacts
• new aviation technologies come 

onto the scene

Growing demand for air services
• Government develops post-war civil 

aviation framework
• Heathrow opens as London’s new 

international civil airport
• UK aerospace industry pioneers some 

significant firsts – the first commercial 
turbo-prop and all-jet airliners

A changing airline industry
• privatisations and further liberalisation 

encourages further growth
• low cost carriers emerge, driving down 

prices for passengers and providing 
greater choice

Page 27

https://www.planforbritain.gov.uk/
https://beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/strategy/industrial-strategy/?utm_campaign=gov&utm_source=gov.uk&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=cons-page
https://beisgovuk.citizenspace.com/strategy/industrial-strategy/?utm_campaign=gov&utm_source=gov.uk&utm_medium=referral&utm_content=cons-page


10 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

A global Britain

1.6 Aviation is vital to how the UK presents 
itself to the rest of the world. More of 
us now fly than ever before, with the 
number of passengers rising by almost 
7% in 2016. As we move around the 
world to study, work and for leisure, 
aviation allows us safe, easy and 
affordable access. Figure 2 shows  
the size of the aviation sector, both  
in terms of the movement of people  
and of goods.3

2.4
million tonnes

of freight 
million air transport

movements
million terminal

passengers
This is 4% more than 
2015 and exceeds the 
previous peak in 2004

This is 5% greater than
2015 but still 7% less
than the 2007 peak

This is 7% greater than
2015 and the highest yearly

total for air passengers

268

Over eight
times as

many
passengers 
as in 1970

Four times
as many
tonnes of

freight than
in 1970

2.2

Three and 
half time
 as many

flights than
in 1970

Figure 2  UK passengers, freight and air transport movements (2016)

3 Civil Aviation Authority (2016): Airport Data

1.7 Leisure travel is a very important part 
of the aviation market, with a steady 
number of people wanting to travel 
for pleasure. In 2015, most of the 
passengers (around 80%) who were 
flying to or from UK airports were 
leisure passengers. Tourism contributes 
an estimated £59 billion to the UK 
economy.4 Inbound tourism by air made 
up 80% of foreign holiday spending 
in 2016.5 Air travel also helps to keep 
important cultural and family links, as 
many flights are taken to visit friends 
and family abroad. This is vital for 
multinational businesses employing staff 
from all over the world, as the ability 
for employees to return home to visit 
friends and relatives is important.

4 Office of National Statistics (2016): The UK 
Tourism Satellite Account – 2013

5 Office of National Statistics (2017): Overseas 
Residents Visits to the UKPage 28



11Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

0

10

20

30

40

50
Percentage

Other

Business

Visit friends/relatives

Holiday

2015201420132012201120102009200820072006200520042003200220012000

42%

35%

20%

3%

Figure 3  Passenger reasons for travel (2000 to 2015)6

1.8 The UK has led the development of 
the modern worldwide aviation system, 
including the regulation and liberalisation 
of international air travel. The UK is 
a key member of the International 
Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO), the 
United Nations agency responsible for 
coordinating and regulating international 
air travel. The UK is a permanent 
representative on ICAO’s Council. We 
continue to lead worldwide agreements, 
including helping to pass a recent 
UN Security Council vote on aviation 
security, and playing a vital role in the 
2016 worldwide agreement to tackle 
aircraft carbon emissions.

6 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Passenger Survey

1.9 Aviation also plays an important role in 
the export of UK services. Much of the 
service sector operating out of the UK 
is made up of highly globalised firms 
that work with clients throughout the 
world. This includes those in financial 
services, insurance and the creative 
industries. Improvements in worldwide 
aviation connections have helped 
develop internationally important areas 
of economic activity in the UK, including 
financial services in London, Leeds and 
Edinburgh, and information technology 
in the Thames Valley.

Page 29



12 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

A stronger economy

1.10 Air transport and aerospace add at 
least £22 billion to the UK economy 
each year. Figure 4 shows how this has 
increased since 2000.7 We are a world 
leader in civil aerospace – number one 
in Europe and second in the world after 
the US, with an approximate 12% of the 
global market share.8 The UK maintains 
this position because of its strength 
in producing the most technologically 
sophisticated parts of aircraft, including 
wings, engines and advanced systems. 

0

5

10

15

20
£ billions

Aerospace

Air transport

2015201420132012201120102009200820072006200520042003200220012000

Figure 4  Air transport and aerospace contribution to the UK economy

7 Based on DfT analysis of ONS GDP low level 
aggregates

8 BEIS analysis, 2014

Over 2,000 aerospace companies 
are working in the UK – ensuring that 
innovation, investment in research and 
development, and a skilled workforce, 
are maintained. Our aerospace 
industry is heavily focused on exports, 
with around 80% of our aerospace 
production exported.9 Companies 
operating in advanced manufacturing 
also depend upon air transport to 
provide fast access to overseas 
markets.

9 Office of National Statistics (2013): Analytical 
Input-Output tablesPage 30



13Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1.11 The aerospace sector encourages 
highly skilled and well paid employment. 
It directly creates almost 110,000 jobs 
and 4,100 apprentices, and further 
supports an estimated 110,000 
jobs across the wider economy.10 
Employment is spread across the 
country, aiding regional and local 
growth. There are major manufacturing 
centres in the Midlands, South West 
and North West. The government’s 
consultation on Building our Industrial 
Strategy repeated the long-term 
commitment to work with the aerospace 
sector, supporting investment in new 
facilities, technology and skills. 

1.12 The UK’s physical location and large 
aviation network also make it a very 
good place for international businesses 
to base themselves. The headquarters 
of major global international companies 
are often sited near aviation centres. 
This concentration of economic 
activity has a positive effect on other 
businesses. There are many examples 
of businesses being based close to 
airports, including the ‘Airport City’ 
development close to Manchester 
Airport, and the ‘Aerohub’ enterprise 
zone established at Newquay Airport.

10 DfT analysis of ONS (2016): Business Register 
and Employment Survey (BRES) and ADS (2016) – 
Aerospace Outlook 2016

1.13 Aviation means that we are now used to 
receiving goods quickly from across the 
world, as well as being able to sell our 
products more easily overseas. Trade 
is an important aspect of aviation. Most 
UK imports (by weight) are transported 
by ship, but with the growth in air 
travel, increasing numbers of goods are 
being transported by air. In 2015 goods 
worth around £160 billion were shipped 
between the UK and non-EU countries 
by air. This is more than 40% of the 
UK’s (extra-EU) trade by value.11 

Fairer society

1.14 The UK’s liberalised approach has 
driven down prices and facilitated 
greater choice for consumers. This 
has made air travel accessible to more 
people. Half of the UK’s population 
takes at least one international flight 
each year and almost a third of leisure 
passengers are from non-professional 
backgrounds.12 This has made overseas 
holidays affordable for more people and 
opened up new opportunities for travel. 

1.15 The government has taken a lead role 
in ensuring that the market operates 
in a fair way and that consumers are 
protected when things go wrong. 
The Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) is 
responsible for operating the Air Travel 
Organiser’s Licence (ATOL) scheme. 
This ensures that holidaymakers are 
protected if a licensed travel company 
(such as an airline or package holiday 
company) goes out of business. The 
CAA also ensures that airlines maintain 
the highest level of standards for 
safety and security, that markets are 
competitive and that customers have 
rights of redress when things go wrong. 

11 HMRC Trade Statistics

12 Department for Transport analysis of CAA 
Passenger Survey and DfT statisticsPage 31



14 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1.16 The UK has also taken a lead role 
internationally in helping the aviation 
sector deal with some of the unwanted 
impacts which aviation may have, both 
on people living near to airports and on 
society more generally. It has helped to 
secure tougher noise standards for new 
aircraft, and agreement on international 
measures to tackle carbon emissions. 

A united nation

1.17 As well as international travel, domestic 
air connections are essential for creating 
a closer, more united country. Local 
airports are key areas for economic 
activity, connecting families and 
businesses across the UK. Figure 5 
shows the six UK airports currently 
providing the most domestic links. 
Thriving, local airports make regions 
significantly more competitive, both 
nationally, and internationally. Domestic 
air links between regional airports and 
our major international airports, such as 
London Heathrow, also provide better 
access for international visitors and 
businesses, allowing them to explore 
everything that all parts of the UK have 
to offer. 

13

15

26 21

17

19

Belfast City (George Best)

Glasgow Edinburgh

Aberdeen

Newcastle

Manchester

Figure 5  Top six UK airports by number of domestic destinations13

13  Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Airport dataPage 32



15Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

The future – challenges  
and opportunities 

1.18 It is important to build on the success 
of the UK’s aviation sector, so that it 
is equipped to meet future challenges 
and opportunities. The government 
has identified a number of issues – 
which may require asking some difficult 
questions about the kind of aviation 
sector we want in the future. These 
issues provide the context to the aim 
and objectives of the future Aviation 
Strategy that are set out in the next 
chapter.

Keeping pace with consumer expectations

1.19 Consumer choice factors are varied, 
complex and can change over time. 
It is important for policy makers to 
understand how consumers make 
informed decisions about how they 
fly, the information they need and the 
protection they require when things 
go wrong. Any well-functioning market 
relies heavily on consumers being able 
to make informed choices. These may 
be related to pricing, quality of service, 
or other issues that are important to 
them. Where there is no information to 
help consumers to make better choices, 
there may be a role for government to 
encourage information to be provided. 
This should help the market to operate 
more effectively.

1.20 Consumers also have changing 
expectations about what they want 
from aviation. These may cover the 
services available at airports, through 
connections and border waiting times. 
The aviation sector has a commercial 
incentive to ensure they meet the needs 
of the consumer. However, there are 
occasions when commercial incentives 
are not properly aligned, which can be 
to the detriment of consumers. In the 
past government has intervened with 
consumer rights legislation and other 
reforms such as the establishment 
of the ATOL protection scheme. 
The government needs to work with 
the aviation industry, to ensure that 
consumers are the focus of the sector 
and that their expectations continue to 
be met.

Maintaining high levels of safety  
and security

1.21 The first duty of any government is to 
protect its citizens. The government 
therefore has a key role to play in 
ensuring that our aviation sector is 
both safe and secure. This is more 
important than ever with a constantly 
changing terrorist threat. The UK is an 
international leader in aviation safety and 
security, and has exported its expertise 
around the world. Worldwide aviation 
safety standards are set by ICAO 
and, within Europe, by the European 
Commission.

Page 33



16 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Expanding our access to markets  
and trade

1.22 It is in the interests of everyone who 
lives in or travels between the UK and 
Europe to seek liberal arrangements 
for aviation when the UK leaves the 
European Union. This will ensure that 
the sector continues to offer passengers 
a wide choice of destinations, frequent 
flights and competitive prices. Just 
as Britain’s economic importance to 
Europe and the rest of the world will 
remain, so too will the importance of 
the UK’s aviation sector. This is why 
we must strengthen our position as 
a global player, with the connections 
and gateways to forge new links with 
growing economies. 

Encouraging competitiveness 

1.23 By encouraging effective competition 
we can ensure that consumers get 
the best deals and a quality service. 
Ensuring the UK’s aviation sector is 
a competitive marketplace will help 
this. Successive governments have 
endeavoured to open up the aviation 
sector. New entrants to aviation have 
helped to increase innovation, reduce 
costs, increase choice and improve 
service. However, there are still certain 
areas where more could be done 
to encourage effective competition, 
to make sure that consumers are 
getting the best deal and a good 
quality service. These issues must be 
considered if UK aviation is to maintain 
its competitive advantage.

Page 34



17Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1.24 Government makes decisions that 
can affect the aviation market. These 
may concern issues such as transport 
investment, airport expansion or the 
level of taxation. The government is 
keen to ensure that such decisions 
do not affect the market, perhaps by 
unintentionally making certain aspects 
more or less competitive than others. 
It is also important to ensure that 
such decisions are in keeping with the 
government’s strategic plans.

50

100

150

200
Index (100=2016)

Actual demand

Projected demand

2050204720442041203820352032202920262023202020172014201120082005

Figure 6  Demand for aviation in the UK (2005-2050)14

14 DfT analysis (2017)

Meeting increasing demand through 
sustainable growth

1.25 Demand for air services continues to 
grow. Over recent decades passenger 
demand for air services has tended to 
rise in line with, and sometimes slightly 
faster than, overall economic growth. 
As a result of the global economic 
downturn there was a fall in aviation 
demand between 2007 and 2009, 
but in recent years strong growth has 
returned. The government expects this 
trend to continue, and expects that 
demand is likely to increase significantly 
between now and 2050 as shown in 
Figure 6.

Page 35



18 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

1.26 The government’s preference for a new 
runway at Heathrow should address an 
identified need for additional capacity 
by 2030 and relieve pressure in the 
South East airport network. Restrictions 
on aviation growth include limited 
airport and airspace capacity, and the 
availability of transport links to airports. 
Where there is restricted aviation 
capacity, the government is keen to 
see how competing demands might 
be balanced, and how the benefits of 
aviation can be ensured across the UK.

1.27 Balancing aviation growth with negative 
environmental impacts is one of the 
greatest challenges facing the aviation 
sector. These impacts mainly concern 
noise and air quality issues experienced 
by local communities, as well as the 
global effect of carbon emissions. The 
government wants to make sure that 
growth in the aviation sector does not 
result in unwelcome environmental 
impacts. Our general aviation sector 
also has its own particular issues that 
the government is keen to address. 

Keeping pace with technology and 
developing skills for the future

1.28 New and emerging technology has 
the potential to transform the aviation 
sector. It will bring great benefits for 
consumers and industry. A combination 
of environmental regulations and airlines 
demanding ever more fuel efficient 
aircraft are the main drivers behind the 
development of new aircraft technology. 
The UK is a global leader in innovation 
and the development of aviation 
technology, a facet of its significant 
aerospace manufacturing base and 
research and technology strengths. 

1.29 However, with new manufacturing 
markets opening up in Asia and 
elsewhere, the UK needs to maintain its 
strong position. The UK’s manufacturing 
base and jobs need to be safeguarded 
and new technologies encouraged. 
These technological developments 
could shape the future of aviation and 
benefit the UK as a whole. As well as 
changes to existing aircraft design 
and emerging propulsion systems, 
new technologies (such as drones 
and personal ‘flying taxis’) need to be 
encouraged to ensure maximum UK 
benefit while maintaining our world-
leading safety and regulatory regime. It 
is also important that the aviation sector 
takes full advantage of other emerging 
technology beyond the world of aviation.

1.30 Highly specialised skills are often 
required in the air transport and 
aerospace sectors. In addition to pilot 
and air traffic controller roles, career 
opportunities also exist in engineering, 
security, ground handling and customer 
service. Pilot training is very costly and 
can require significant initial investment, 
which may put off individuals from 
poorer backgrounds. There are also 
concerns regarding possible skills 
shortages across the sector. The 
government wants to explore how 
the aviation industry will maintain a 
highly skilled and diverse workforce, 
and ensure that local communities 
throughout the country enjoy the 
associated economic benefits.

Page 36



19Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Page 37



20 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

2. Towards a new Aviation Strategy

The need for a strategy
2.1 The previous chapter outlined the 

challenges and opportunities faced by 
our aviation sector which mean that 
a new long-term strategic approach 
is needed. It is more than four years 
since the publication of the Aviation 
Policy Framework.15 Since then there 
have been significant changes in the 
sector. Aviation is a rapidly evolving 
industry, with technological innovation, a 
changing global political landscape and 
a need to tackle environmental impacts. 
The government has also recently 
announced its preference for a new 
Northwest Runway at Heathrow. These 
developments mean it is now the right 
time to develop a new Aviation Strategy.

Recent policy developments

• 2013 – Aviation Policy Framework 
separated the issue of South East airport 
capacity from the rest of aviation policy 
and set the context for the subsequent 
Airports Commission. 

• 2015 – Airports Commission set out 
a case for one net new runway in the 
South East by 2030 and unanimously 
recommended the Heathrow Northwest 
Runway scheme to meet this need.16

15 UK Government (2013): Aviation Policy Framework

16 Airport Commission (2015): Final Report

• 2016 – Heathrow Northwest Runway 
Scheme announced as the government’s 
preferred scheme for delivering South 
East airport capacity. 

• 2017 – the government published the 
draft Airports National Policy Statement 
(NPS) for consultation, the first step in 
the planning process and also consulted 
on how to modernise our airspace and 
address noise impacts17, 18

Proposed aim and objectives
2.2 The new Aviation Strategy will take a 

fresh look at the aviation sector and 
its challenges and opportunities, as 
well as the role of government. For the 
first time it will put consumers at the 
centre of policy making. It will cover the 
whole country, focusing only on where 
government could and should make a 
difference. It will set out the long-term 
direction for aviation policy making to 
2050 and beyond and will build on our 
aviation success story in pursuit of the 
following aim:

To achieve a safe, secure and 
sustainable aviation sector that 
meets the needs of consumers and 
of a global, outward-looking Britain

17 UK Government (2017): Consultation on Draft 
Airports National Policy Statement

18 UK Government (2017): Airspace Policy 
ConsultationPage 38



21Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

2.3 The strategy will have the following  
six objectives:

• help the aviation industry work  
for its customers

• ensure a safe and secure way  
to travel

• build a global and connected Britain

• encourage competitive markets

• support growth while tackling 
environmental impacts

• develop innovation, technology 
and skills

Scope and policy approach
Scope

2.4 The Aviation Strategy will be broad in 
its scope. It will seek to address all 
of the key issues that are relevant to 
the consumers of aviation services 
and to meeting the six objectives set 
out above. Developing such a broad 
strategy will not be a quick process, and 
the government makes no apologies for 
taking the time to get it right. The end 
result will be a new policy framework for 
the sector which will provide clarity on 
the future of aviation policy across the 
whole of the UK and focus the aviation 
sector on the needs of consumers.

Policy approach

2.5 The strategy will be guided by three 
overarching principles:

• consumer focused – it will put 
passengers and businesses at the 
centre of everything we do

• market driven – it will emphasise 
the role of government as an 
enabler, helping to make the market 
work effectively

• evidence led – it will target 
intervention on specific problems 
which government can address, 
avoiding activity that does not 
respond to a clear problem

2.6 These principles will be applied to a 
set of simple policy tests, to be used 
to guide the government’s approach to 
developing the strategy:

• what is the rationale for action? 
This will remain focused on what  
the government is trying to achieve, 
not just in terms of outputs (such as 
the publication of a new strategy), 
but the final outcome for the sector 
and society

• what is government’s role? 
This will address the case for 
government action to fix an 
identified problem, or whether 
activity is better carried out by 
others

• what does the evidence say? This 
is a test of whether the government 
is using the best available evidence 
and whether there is anything 
that could be done to improve the 
information and data available to 
decision makers

• have all of the options been 
considered? This will ask whether 
there are other approaches that 
may not have previously been 
considered

• what is the effectiveness of 
any proposed action? This will 
ask whether government has 
considered the practicalities of 
policy decisions and if these have 
been properly discussed with those 
affected or who have an interest

Page 39



22 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Relationship to other processes

2.7 The strategy will not pause important 
processes. The government will act 
if decisions or actions need to be 
taken on a particular issue. All of these 
decisions will be taken alongside, and 
fed into, the development of the final 
Aviation Strategy.

2.8 The aviation sector is international by 
nature and our regulatory framework 
has in many areas developed through 
our membership of the European 
Union. This includes some of our Air 
Services Agreements and our safety 
and security regulations. Until exit 
negotiations are concluded, the UK 
remains a full member of the European 
Union and all the rights and obligations 
of EU membership remain in force. 
The government has already been 
engaging with industry on the impact 
of Brexit and will continue to do so. The 
planned consultations on the Aviation 
Strategy will look more broadly and over 
a longer timeframe at the UK’s aviation 
agreements and policies.

2.9 Another ongoing process relates to 
airport capacity in the South East. The 
government has announced that a new 
Northwest Runway at Heathrow is its 
preferred option and has consulted 
on a draft Airports NPS. Although 
the Aviation Strategy will be informed 
by the government’s preference on 
additional capacity, it will also examine 
aviation’s effect on all of the UK’s 
nations and regions. This is in addition 
to the expected benefits that Heathrow 
expansion could bring. The government 
will continue to take forward its 
consideration of a Heathrow Northwest 
Runway through the Airports NPS 
process. 

2.10 The Aviation Strategy will consider how 
the need for further growth should 
be treated beyond the additional 
runway that is required by 2030. It 
will also consider the framework for 
future sustainable growth and making 
best use of existing capacity. This 
call for evidence will also be used to 
consider the Airports Commission’s 
recommendation that if the UK is to 
continue to grow its domestic and 
international connectivity before a 
new runway is built there is a need 
for existing runways throughout the 
UK to be more intensively utilised, 
provided environmental issues are fully 
addressed. More on this is included in 
Chapter 7.

2.11 Another area of ongoing consultation is 
looking into the way in which airspace 
is designed and managed across the 
whole of the UK. The government’s 
airspace consultation sought views on 
updating policy to meet the needs of 
passengers, communities, the aviation 
sector and the wider economy. This 
work on airspace reform will also be 
taken into account in the final Aviation 
Strategy.

Page 40



23Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Process and timings
2.12 This call for evidence document 

marks the start of an ambitious 
work programme, which will include 
policy development and a series of 
consultations over the next 18 months. 
The programme will consist of the 
following phases.

Timeline for consultations

Call for Evidence

Summer 2017

Consultation 1

Second half of 2017

To explore objectives:

1. help the industry 
work for its 
customers

2. ensure a safe 
and secure way 
to travel

To explore objectives:

3. build a global and 
connected Britain

4. encourage 
competitive 
markets

To explore objectives:

5. support growth 
while tackling 
environmental 
impacts

6. develop
innovation, 
technology 
and skills

Phase One Phase ThreePhase Two

Consultation 2

First half of 2018

Consultation 3

Second half of 2018

Aviation Strategy

End of 2018

Figure 7  Aviation Strategy process

Phase One (summer 2017) –  
call for evidence

2.13 This sets out the issues that the 
government wants to be discussed 
as part of the strategy process. It is 
intended that this document starts a 
national conversation on the issues 
raised. However, as an important first 
step, the government needs to know 
whether the suggested approach is 
correct. It needs to know whether it 
is looking at the right issues, if these 
are being addressed in a logical order, 
whether the proposed timetable is 
reasonable, and to get the views on 
how it can best involve people and 
organisations during the consultation 
process. A list of consultation questions 
on this process is included as an annex 
at the end of this document.

Phase Two (2017 to 2018) –  
themed consultations 

2.14 The call for evidence phase will 
be followed by a series of themed 
consultations. These consultations will 
be based around the objectives of the 
Aviation Strategy. The government will 
consult as many people as possible 
during this process. Although the 
individual consultation papers will 
suggest a structure for responses, 
interested parties should not feel 
restricted by this structure. The 
government recognises that there are 
many links and connections between 
different themes, and it is expected 
that discussions on every aspect of the 
review will take place right up to the 
publication of the final strategy.

Page 41



24 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Phase Three (end of 2018) –  
launch of the Aviation Strategy

2.15 The process will end with the launch 
of the final Aviation Strategy. The 
published strategy will pull together the 
findings from the consultation papers 
and set the framework for aviation 
policy for the next 30 years (up to 2050) 
and beyond. As such it will reflect the 
opinions, research and evidence that 
have been gathered through each of the 
consultation exercises.

How this document is structured

2.16 This call for evidence represents the 
start of Phase One. The remaining 
chapters of this document are 
structured around the six objectives of 
the strategy. They introduce the specific 
issues that the government is proposing 
to review as part of the planned 
consultation exercises in Phase Two:

• Chapter 3: Help the aviation 
industry work for its customers 
– how to improve the experience 
of passengers and business 
consumers, through improved 
access, better information and 
support when things go wrong

• Chapter 4: Ensure a safe and 
secure way to travel – how to 
maintain the UK’s leading role on 
aviation safety and security and 
ensure that we are responding to 
varied and evolving threats

• Chapter 5: Build a global 
and connected Britain – the 
importance of aviation to building a 
global Britain that is outward looking 
and embraces the world, with a 
strong economy that benefits the 
whole of the UK

• Chapter 6: Encourage 
competitive markets – how to 
promote competition across the 
sector to maximise benefits for 
consumers 

• Chapter 7: Support growth while 
tackling environmental impacts 
– how to build capacity and 
promote growth and connectivity, 
while balancing this with the need 
to minimise impacts and respect 
environmental limits

• Chapter 8: Develop innovation, 
technology and skills – how to 
build on the aviation sector’s track 
record of success in innovation and 
make the most of the opportunities 
presented by new and emerging 
technology, and to build skills 
and capability across our world 
leading air transport and aerospace 
industries

Page 42



25Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Help the aviation industry 
work for its customers

Page 43



26 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

3. Help the aviation industry work  
for its customers

Context
3.1 One of the key principles of the Aviation 

Strategy is that the consumer should 
be at the heart of the aviation sector. 
Customer satisfaction is vital to the 
success of any sector. We also need to 
ensure that passengers are treated fairly 
and are protected when things don’t 
go according to plan. Aviation markets 
should change and adapt according to 
decisions made by consumers. 

Passenger Experience end-to-end Steps

Flight

Flight
booking

Ticket
issue

Check-in

Travel to 
Airport

Baggage
drop off

Immigration
exit controls

Security
screening

Time in 
departure 

lounge

Boarding

Onward 
Travel

Passport 
control

Baggage 
collection

Figure 8  Passenger end-to-end journey

3.2 The government wants to explore 
how consumers make decisions and 
whether they have enough information 
to make choices that are right for 
them. It will look at how industry and 
government can work together to 
improve the consumer experience. This 
will explore the whole experience of 
aviation consumers and will consider 
how both business and leisure travellers 
relate with the aviation sector, from ticket 
booking to arrival at their destination. 

Page 44



27Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

3.3 Passengers pass through a series of 
stages on their end-to-end journey, 
from exploring and initiating a booking 
to arriving at their destination. They will 
pass through several physical spaces 
and processes during that journey. 
Many of those processes are already 
smooth and efficient, and the extent to 
which they slow down the passenger’s 
journey is small compared to the relative 
importance of ensuring that those 
processes are done properly (including 
security checks). The government is 
interested in whether there is more that 
both government and industry can do to 
manage some of the ‘pinch-points’ that 
still exist along this journey, and wants 
to look at some of the reasons that 
may discourage consumers from fully 
participating in the market.

3.4 Consumers must be happy that they 
are paying a fair price, that they will 
be provided with a service that is 
appropriate for that price, and that 
if things go wrong, their chosen 
providers will put things right, and, 
where appropriate, offer compensation. 
The strategy will explore whether 
there are any additional areas where 
the government could do more 
to help the market to improve the 
consumer experience, as well as where 
government intervention may no longer 
be necessary, or where a different 
way of approaching the issue could 
potentially give better outcomes.

Approach to date
3.5 The aviation services available to 

consumers have improved dramatically 
over recent decades. Liberalisation of the 
market has created more competition, 
driving down prices and making air travel 
accessible to more people, more of the 
time. It has helped leisure travellers go 
further and travel more often, and has 
allowed business travellers to reach 
new markets and access new suppliers 
across the world. It has also allowed the 
development of new business models, 
such as the rise of low cost carriers, and 
increased choice. 

Information

3.6 The growth of the internet and mobile 
technologies have already revolutionised 
the way in which people book travel and 
holidays. Previously consumers may 
have had to visit a travel agent to book 
air travel. Now they also have the option 
of creating their own bespoke package 
holidays or making flight-only bookings 
on their smartphone. This has improved 
the opportunities and flexibility for 
consumers. However, it also provides 
new challenges for the industry, 
ensuring that consumer protections 
keep up with the new business models. 

3.7 The availability of digital services has 
clear links with the focus of this strategy 
on improving the consumer experience. 
Price comparison sites, print-at-home 
and straight-to-phone ticketing, and 
websites and apps providing in-depth 
and real-time flight information, have 
either reduced costs for consumers or 
enabled them to make more informed 
decisions. These developments 
have been market led, with minimal 
government intervention, and the 
government wants to ensure that 
innovation in digital services continues 
to grow. Page 45



28 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Accessibility

3.8 One group of travellers who may 
experience issues that prevent them 
from being able to fly are disabled 
people and Passengers with Reduced 
Mobility (PRM). The UK has strong 
consumer protection in place to 
encourage people with either visible 
or hidden disabilities, and those with 
reduced mobility, to enjoy the benefits 
that aviation brings. Airlines and airports 
are required to provide assistance 
that is appropriate to each individual’s 
needs to enable them to take a flight. 
In recent years, the industry’s efforts 
have focused on also making aviation 
accessible for people with hidden 
disabilities such as dementia, autism or 
loss of sight or hearing, as well as age-
related conditions. This work has mostly 
been driven by the CAA’s proactive 
approach and engagement with the 
industry. 

3.9 The government’s draft Accessibility 
Action Plan (AAP) consultation will set 
out the government’s proposals for 
accessible travel and will be published 
by autumn 2017. The section of the AAP 
that deals with aviation will seek views 
on how to improve the awareness of 
accessible air travel among disabled 
passengers and those with reduced 
mobility. Responses to the consultation 
on the AAP will be considered together 
as part of the Aviation Strategy.

Protection

3.10 Consumers need to know that they 
have a good level of protection if things 
go wrong. The rights and protections 
that aviation passengers enjoy come 
from a number of sources: at the 
global level, through the Carriage by 
Air Conventions; at the European level, 
through a number of EU regulations 
(principally Regulation 261/2004) and at 
the national level, through the Consumer 
Rights Act 2015 and other general 
consumer legislation. The government’s 
position is that passengers should have 
a robust level of protection and that 
their rights should be communicated to 
them in a timely and clear way. It also 
wants to make sure that passenger 
protections are designed in a way 
that does not unreasonably impact on 
competitiveness or connectivity.

3.11 If the passenger believes their rights 
have been breached they have the 
opportunity to claim compensation 
from the airline. One of the drivers of 
consumer confidence is the knowledge 
that if communication with an airline 
reaches a deadlock, the passenger 
can take the case to a professional 
and impartial adjudicator to reach a 
judgement or settlement. 

3.12 The government, together with the 
CAA, introduced Alternative Dispute 
Resolution (ADR) providers to the 
sector in summer 2016. Almost 80% of 
passengers in the UK are now covered 
by ADR, with 33 airlines that operate in 
the UK now part of a scheme. Before 
the introduction of ADR, the CAA was 
the only body to which consumers 
could complain about an alleged 
breach of their rights. Although the 
CAA has a strong record of success in 
resolving cases on behalf of consumers, 
they do not have the power to make 

Page 46



29Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

binding decisions. ADR providers 
have this power, and the government 
believes that these powers will enhance 
the offering to the consumer. The 
government strongly encourages all 
airlines to subscribe to a scheme. 

3.13 The CAA also runs the Air Travel 
Organiser’s Licence (ATOL) holiday 
financial protection scheme. This 
provides insolvency protection to over 
20 million passengers each year. The 
ATOL scheme has adapted over the 
years, to reflect changes to the ways in 
which people book and take holidays. 
A reform programme commenced in 
2012 to modernise ATOL in line with 
developments in the marketplace and 
ensure that consumers, rather than 
taxpayers, pay the costs of adequate 
protection. The changes which have 
been introduced have extended 
consumer protection and helped to 
make the system fairer for businesses. 
The capitalisation of the ATOL fund 
has also improved since 2012, and 
steps have been taken to ensure that 
the market takes a greater share of the 
risks. 

3.14 It is important that the government 
builds on these steps, to ensure that 
ATOL continues to respond to changes 
in the travel market, and improvements 
to UK and European travel regulations. 
The government announced that it will 
update ATOL to ensure it is in line with 
a new EU Package Travel Directive 
(2015), when it is brought into force in 
July 2018.19 These changes will extend 
ATOL protection to a broader range 
of holidays and make it easier for UK 
businesses to trade across international 
borders. This will largely keep the 
existing structure of ATOL, which will 

19 UK Government (2017): ATOL reform consultation 
– government response 

help consumers, businesses and the 
CAA to move over to the new Package 
Travel Directive in 2018. The Air Travel 
Organisers’ Licensing Bill, which aims 
to modernise the ATOL scheme, was 
announced in the recent Queen’s 
Speech. The government also wants 
to ensure that if the market responds 
to passenger needs in this area, such 
as by developing a suitable insurance 
market, it is able to step back from this 
regulatory approach as appropriate.

Challenges for the future
3.15 In the past 20 years passengers have 

benefited from increased destination 
choices and lower airfares. However, 
there is much more that can be done 
to improve our understanding of what 
is most important to consumers and 
to ensure that the aviation sector is 
responding to consumer needs.

Making aviation accessible for all

3.16 Population statistics indicate that there 
is likely to be an increasing demand for 
accessible travel. We have an ageing 
population many of whom are used to 
flying regularly. The CAA has found that 
the demand for assistance services 
is already growing faster than general 
passenger growth in the UK. In 2015, 
40% more travellers used assistance 
services than in 2010, although the total 
passenger numbers increased only by 
20% during the same period.20 Industry 
and service providers need to plan for 
this increasing demand, and ensure 
that all passengers are aware of the 
assistance services that are available.

20 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Consumer research 
for the UK aviation sector Page 47



30 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Providing consumers with  
the information that they need

3.17 Many passengers do not have access 
to the accurate information they need, 
such as the best way of getting to and 
from airports or the typical length of 
delays. As a result, passengers may not 
be able to make fully informed choices 
and switch suppliers, thereby rewarding 
better performers and incentivising 
improvements in service quality. 
Providing better information allows 
passengers to make more informed 
choices, providing the market with the 
incentive to improve the passenger 
experience and the efficiency with 
which it operates.

3.18 Well-functioning markets are heavily 
reliant on consumers being able to 
make informed choices, whether this is 
on pricing, quality of service, or other 
issues that are important to them. 
Where such information is not available 
in an easily accessible format, there 
is a role for government to encourage 
availability of that information. Where 
consumers do not have the necessary 
expertise to make informed choices on 
particular issues, such as security, there 
is also role for government to impose 
the minimum standards that consumers 
would expect.

Providing protection for  
when things go wrong

3.19 The government is interested in what 
more can be done to improve long-term 
consumer protection. It is important 
that the UK continues to have a fair and 
effective financial protection scheme 
for consumers and business, which 
also minimises the risk for government 
and the taxpayer. There could be 
considerable benefits in moving ATOL 
further towards a more market or 
risk-based approach to protection. 
There are several ways in which this 
could be achieved, which would need 
careful consideration. It could involve 
transitioning away from ATOL over 
time to a market based approach, 
for example, where protection is 
provided through bonding, insurance 
or trust accounts. Or it could involve 
smaller steps, where the current ATOL 
architecture is retained, but with a 
greater focus on risk based pricing and 
increased market involvement. Further 
reform to ATOL in the longer term, 
including how the scheme might interact 
with insolvency protection outside 
the aviation sector, or with overlaps in 
protection provided under Section 75 of 
the Consumer Credit Act (1974), will be 
explored as the strategy develops. 

3.20 There is also the ongoing challenge 
of making sure that the regulation 
of passenger rights in the event of 
cancellation and delays is appropriate. 
We particularly need to find ways to 
make consumers more aware of their 
rights when things go wrong, and 
we also need to develop the right 
framework for when the UK has left  
the EU.

Page 48



31Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Managing disruptive passengers

3.21 Disruptive passengers can affect the 
safety and comfort of both consumers 
and airline staff. Problems are often 
caused by passengers drinking too 
much alcohol. The Air Navigation 
Order makes it an offence to board 
an aircraft when drunk, or to be drunk 
on an aircraft. In autumn 2016 a 
voluntary code of practice on disruptive 
passengers, setting out procedures 
to tackle the issue, was launched by 
industry trade bodies, and supported by 
airlines and airports.21 The government 
strongly supports the industry in 
finding ways in which to manage the 
problem, including through this code. 
Government will continue to work with 
industry to consider other possible 
solutions.

Better ways of working

3.22 Improved ways of working can make 
consumer journeys easier, more 
efficient, and more economically 
beneficial. There are opportunities for 
organisations, such as airlines and 
airports, to improve the ways in which 
they work, both together and with their 
customers, to develop new business 
models. ‘Luggage portering’ is an 
example of a new system which is 
already widely used in Japan. This is 
a new method of handling baggage, 
whereby bags are collected from 
passengers before they reach the 
airport, making consumer travel to and 
through the airport simpler. It has come 
about through firms thinking about 
the rules differently and challenging 
the existing way in which things have 
been done. As new business models 
develop and change the ways in which 

21 The UK Aviation Industry Code of Practice on 
Disruptive Passengers (2016)

the market operates, government and 
the aviation sector need to ensure that 
these new methods work fairly and 
safely, and to the benefit of consumers.

The Hong Kong Airport Express ‘in town 
check-in’ is a great example of how the 
consumer journey can be streamlined.

Travellers can check-in luggage up to a whole 
day before their flight at one of the two ‘in 
town check-in’ facilities at Hong Kong or 
Kowloon stations. 

They are issued with a boarding pass and 
can then either travel bag free straight to the 
airport or spend an unencumbered day in the 
city.

On arrival at the airport, travellers proceed 
straight through to security and are reunited 
with their bags when they reach their 
destination.

Page 49



32 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Alleviating ‘pinch points’

3.23 Travel to and from airports can be 
difficult for some passengers. Many 
passengers use commuter trains to the 
airport, which are difficult to negotiate 
with suitcases. Passengers with 
disabilities can also find that surface 
access discourages them from travelling 
by air. The provision of transport 
access will be explored further in the 
consultation on supporting growth, 
but the government will also use the 
consumer consultation to explore how 
consumers could be better informed 
about their options.

3.24 People can experience queuing and 
inconvenience at security and border 
control points. Developments in security 
technology could improve the consumer 
experience and ensure that high 
standards of security are maintained, 
while minimising inconvenience to 
customers. As airport passport control 
is most people’s first experience of the 
UK, the government wants to consider 
how it can work with industry to make 
the arrivals process as smooth as 
possible.

Questions for the strategy
3.25 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• how to ensure that aviation is 
accessible to all and meets the 
needs of passengers with disabilities 
and restricted mobility

• the type of information that 
consumers need in making 
informed decisions about flights, 
holidays and other aviation services

• the opportunities for business, 
consumers and government to 
make more innovative use of data, 
and how this could be used to 
improve consumer experiences 

• the arrangements that should be in 
place when things go wrong, such 
as the protection of consumers 
from travel agent, tour operator and 
airline failure

• how to manage problems caused 
by disruptive passengers

• how we can encourage the sector 
to think about new ways of working 
that are designed to improve the 
consumer experience

• how we can identify and alleviate 
pinch points in the consumer 
experience

Page 50



33Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Ensure a safe and secure 
way to travel

Page 51



34 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

4. Ensure a safe and secure way to travel 

Context
4.1 Protecting the travelling public and 

ensuring that aviation passengers are 
able to travel safely and securely will 
always be the government’s highest 
priority. This is more important than ever 
now, when certain terrorist groups are 
determined to try to harm members of 
the public. Aviation has been the subject 
of a number of attacks and plots by 
terrorist groups in recent years. The 
terrorist threat continues to develop and 
is likely to remain at a high level for the 
foreseeable future – this is particularly 
true for inbound aviation.

4.2 Aviation remains a very safe form of 
transport, and the UK has an excellent 
safety record. The fatal accident rate for 
EU and UK commercial airlines is very 
low. There have been only two major 
losses by a European airline in  
the last 10 years: Air France in  
2009 and Germanwings in 2015. It is 
important that the UK maintains and 
tries to improve our high standards  
of air safety, both in terms of protecting 
human life, and underpinning our 
economic success.

4.3 Under international conventions, aviation 
security is the responsibility of the 
host state. This means that the first 
level of responsibility for inbound flight 
security into the UK is with the country 
that the aircraft left last. We need to 
balance necessary aviation security 
measures against their impact on the 
travelling public, freight and industry. 
The UK has some of the toughest 
aviation security requirements in the 
world, though passenger satisfaction is 
good and queues are generally short. 
However, as with safety, we cannot be 
complacent and the aim is to maintain 
an aviation security regime which is 
flexible, proportionate and mitigates the 
security risk to an acceptable level. This 
includes understanding and mitigating 
potential new threats, such as cyber 
vulnerabilities, as well as more  
traditional threats.

Page 52



35Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Approach to date
4.4 The Secretary of State for Transport 

is responsible for aviation safety and 
security in the UK. This includes overall 
strategy and policy. The CAA, as 
the independent safety and security 
regulator, oversees and regulates 
many aspects of the aviation industry, 
including safety and security.

Safety

4.5 The UK’s risk-based approach to 
aviation safety gives priority to the 
management of the highest aviation 
risks to passengers and the general 
public and focusses resources on the 
most important areas.22 The CAA is 
responsible for the delivery of effective 
and proportionate safety regulation 
in the UK, but also works closely 
with partners in other countries to 
improve safety standards worldwide. 
The military, crown dependencies and 
overseas territories have their own 
aviation safety regimes. 

4.6 The UK’s proportionate approach 
to aviation safety regulation requires 
continuous vigilance and the regular 
review of new and emerging risks, 
especially when risks are evolving 
quickly. While the sector strives to 
pre-empt and manage safety risks, it is 
important that when something does 

22 Civil Aviation Authority (2014): UK State Safety 
Programme

go wrong, we can all learn the lessons 
and respond appropriately. For this 
reason the government supported the 
development of a working culture where 
personnel at all levels are encouraged 
to report safety occurrences and to 
help others in the industry to learn 
from these events. The safety reporting 
culture is vulnerable to perceptions that 
there could be any detriment associated 
with reporting or that no action will be 
taken, so the government will work 
closely with the industry to encourage 
open reporting. 

Domestic security

4.7 A risk-based approach has been 
followed to protect UK aviation interests 
at home. Security measures and 
interventions are adjusted depending on 
the assessed level of threat, vulnerability 
and possible impact. 

4.8 For many years the government 
has taken a user-pays approach 
to domestic aviation security. This 
means that industry is responsible for 
delivering and funding the security 
measures set by the Department 
for Transport (DfT) and the CAA as 
regulator. The government supports 
industry in promoting and using Security 
Management Systems (SeMS). These 
systems strengthen internal quality 
assurance programmes and ensure 
high levels of compliance with security 
requirements. Government is working 
intensively with industry and security 
equipment manufacturers to get the 
most out of technological advances, so 
that we have the best possible detection 
capability for potential threats and an 
improved passenger experience. This 
has included increased deployment of 
security (body) scanners at airports in 
order to improve detection of threats 
carried by individuals.

Page 53



36 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

4.9 Recent data from passenger surveys 
at the largest UK airports, as shown 
in Figure 9, tends to show improved 
levels of passenger satisfaction with 
the security processes. As the UK’s 
aviation security regime develops 
one of the key aims will be to deliver 
further improvements to the passenger 
experience.

0 20 40

Percentage

60 80 100

Data not collected

Very dissatisfied

Fairly dissatisfied

Neither

Fairly satisfied

Very satisfied

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Figure 9  Passenger satisfaction with security processes airports23

23 Department for Transport (2016): Air passenger 
experience of security screening at selected UK 
airports, 2009-2015

International security

4.10 The biggest risks to UK airlines and 
passengers come from overseas. 
Reducing this vulnerability has received 
growing attention and investment in 
recent years. There is a great variation 
in the ability of overseas states to 
ensure the appropriate standards of 
aviation security. The UK government 
has significantly increased its network 
of aviation security experts, who are 
sent to conduct assessments at higher 

Page 54



37Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

risk overseas airports. They also work 
with local aviation security authorities 
to correct weaknesses and increase 
capability. Where the necessary 
improvements are not being made or 
where an unacceptable level of risk 
continues, the government has taken 
appropriate action including requiring 
additional security measures and 
stopping or restricting flights.

4.11 The government is working at regional 
and global levels, through the EU, UN 
and ICAO, to enhance aviation security 
standards, increase commitment and 
improve implementation, capability 
and training. It is also working closely 
with partner states and the aviation 
industry to deliver improvements 
in the highest priority locations. In 
September 2016 the UN Security 
Council passed unanimously a UK-
drafted Resolution calling on all Member 
States to implement and sustain high 
levels of implementation of aviation 
security.24 This is the first time the 
Security Council has ever dedicated 
a Resolution to this subject and is a 
significant milestone in our efforts to 
raise aviation security standards around 
the world. The Resolution also supports 
efforts by ICAO as a UN specialised 
agency to focus its member states on 
priority areas for achieving progress in 
strengthening implementation, leading 
to ICAO agreeing in short order a new 
Global Aviation Security Plan. 

4.12 The UK has also been in the forefront 
of pressing for and assisting the EU to 
adopt its own strategy for dealing with 
the inbound risk, by agreeing a risk 
assessment methodology among the 
28 member states that will allow the  
EU to identify high-priority locations 

24 United Nations Security Council Resolution 
2309/16

where it can both lobby for change  
and support such change through 
technical assistance.

Challenges for the future
Changing nature of terrorist threat

4.13 The intensification and evolution of the 
terrorist threat, and the likelihood this 
will persist, is a continuing concern. 
The government must work to maintain 
high levels of public confidence that 
UK air travel is secure. If terrorist events 
continue to occur at an increased 
pace and tempo, and across a 
widening range of locations, this will 
understandably increase the level of 
apprehension amongst the travelling 
public. The work the government 
is doing to make it more difficult to 
attack UK bound flights from higher 
risk locations and to enhance global 
aviation security standards is essential 
in mitigating risk to an acceptable level 
and reassuring the travelling public. 

Page 55



38 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Making use of technology

4.14 Aviation security equipment 
manufacturers and the aviation industry 
continue to work hard to develop new 
technological solutions that will detect 
current threats more effectively and in 
the least intrusive and most efficient way 
possible. The government is supporting 
this work in a range of practical ways, 
including through targeted financial 
support of research and trials. It is  
also consulting the sector about  
ways of supporting them in bringing 
new products to market quickly 
including expediting the testing and 
evaluation process. 

Maintaining a collaborative approach  
with industry

4.15 The government must continue to 
work collaboratively with industry. It 
will do this through an established 
network of security committees and 
working groups to ensure that security 
requirements are relevant, proportionate 
and managed and delivered in the 
most cost effective way possible. This 
includes devising security policies that 
are as future-proofed as possible so 
that industry investment in new security 
technologies can be made confidently 
in the knowledge that requirements will 
not suddenly change and require further 
investment in new kit. The government 
will continue to be as transparent 
as possible with industry about the 
underlying threat position, subject to 
any necessary constraints about the 
protection of classified information. 

Adjusting our regulatory framework 

4.16 Approximately 80% of UK aviation 
security requirements are derived from 
directly applicable EU regulations. 
However, many of those regulations 
were modelled on established UK 

measures introduced after the 
Lockerbie bombing in 1988. So the UK 
has extensive experience of developing 
and operating a sophisticated domestic 
aviation security regime, both within 
and outside an EU framework, and we 
will ensure that UK security measures 
continue to be amongst the strongest  
in the world. 

Making best use of data

4.17 The UK has historically focused its 
security on screening of passengers 
rather than checking the traveller’s 
identity or using other information about 
them or their journey. Some other 
states take a different approach. The 
government plans to explore whether 
the use of data can help to provide an 
additional level of aviation security for 
flights to and from the UK, as well as 
using resources more effectively and 
to focus enhanced security measures 
where the risk may be higher. The 
challenge is to do this in a proportionate 
and cost-effective way without creating 
additional vulnerabilities and within 
accepted norms around the use of 
passenger data. New technologies, 
as well as better data availability may 
help identify workable solutions. For 
example, biometric systems which 
use an electronic device or computer 
software to assess a person’s unique 
physical and other traits can be 
utilised to confirm identity and provide 
surveillance more reliably than existing 
controls which rely on document or 
similar checks by a human being. 
There are a range of such technologies 
including voice, face, fingerprint or iris 
recognition as well as sensors.

Page 56



39Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Driving forward global engagement

4.18 The UK is acting bilaterally to mitigate 
aviation risks in those priority locations 
where vulnerability and risk are 
assessed to be highest, and targeted 
UK assistance and advice are making 
a positive practical difference in many 
cases.  The government also recognises 
that states need to accept responsibility 
for delivering effective security in their 
own airports. It will continue to work 
through international organisations, 
including the UN and ICAO, and with 
like-minded partners, to raise the bar on 
international aviation security standards, 
and on building local capabilities and a 
more effective security culture.

Questions for the strategy
4.19 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• innovations that should be 
introduced at UK airports over the 
next 5-10 years in order to enhance 
security and improve the passenger 
experience

• whether more could be done 
to raise standards of security at 
overseas airports, and if so, the 
mechanisms that should be used to 
achieve this

• whether any UK funding should be 
provided to assist overseas states 
to develop their aviation safety 
capacity where it interacts with the 
UK safety system or directly affects 
the UK public

• how safety regulations can enable 
and support new technological 
solutions and new business models 
while retaining adequate protections

Page 57



40 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Build a global and 
connected Britain

Page 58



41Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

5. Build a global and connected Britain 

Context
5.1 The aviation sector is central to building 

a truly global and connected Britain. 
The aviation industry already provides 
direct flights to over 370 destinations in 
over 100 countries (as shown in Figure 
10). It is this infrastructure network 
that enables the UK’s trade around 
the world, boosts productivity, and 
facilitates important leisure and tourist 
travel. Air transport is also a thriving 
sector of the economy in its own right, 
contributing around £14 billion to the 
UK’s GDP.25 The government has set 
out its preferred option for additional 
capacity in the South East and this will 
help to provide more of the international 
connectivity that the country needs.

●

●

●

●

●

●● ●●

●

● ● ●

●

●

●●●

●

● ●

●●●
●

●
●

●●●
●●

●
●

●

●

●

●

●●

●

●

●

●●●
●●

●
●●

●●

●●●

●●●● ●

●
●

●
●●
●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●

●
●

●

● ●
●

●

●

●

●

●

●
●●

●

●

●

●

●
● ●

●
●

●
●●

●
●

●
● ●

●

●

●●
●● ●● ●●●

●●

●
●
● ●

●
●

● ●

●●
●

●

●
●

●
●

●
●● ●

●

●
●●

●

●
●

●

●

●●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●
●●

●●

●

●●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●●●
●●

●● ●●

●●
●

●

●

●●
●

●

●

●●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●●

●

●
●

●

●
●

●

●

●●

●

●

●●
● ●●

●●
●●

●
●

●● ●●●

● ●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●
● ●

●

●●
●
●
●
●

●

●

●

●

●

●
●

●
●

●

●
●

●●

●

●

●●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●●●
●●

●

●

●
●

●

● ●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●

● ●

●

●

●

●●

●●

●

●

●●

●
●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●●●
●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●●

●

●

●

●●

●●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●

●

●●

●

●

●

●
●

●

●

●

●

●
●

Made with Natural Earth

Figure 10  Direct destinations served by at least one UK flight a week26

25 DfT analysis of ONS GDP low level aggregates 
(2015)

26 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Airport data

5.2 This chapter outlines how the 
government will support the aviation 
sector to fulfil its potential by opening 
and influencing markets around 
the world and helping UK industry 
and consumers take advantage of 
international opportunities.

Approach to date
Air Service Agreements

5.3 The UK’s Air Services Agreements 
(ASAs) open up aviation markets 
around the world to the benefit of the 
consumer. ASAs cover traffic rights for 
passenger and cargo airlines. ASAs 
also detail the permitted ownership 
structures of airlines and establish 
which airports airlines can fly to.

Page 59



42 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

5.4 The UK has sought to liberalise and 
deregulate international air service 
arrangements. The aim has been to, 
on a reciprocal basis, allow carriers to 
operate fairly and within an appropriate 
regulatory framework. As a result of this 
approach, the number of destinations 
served daily from UK airports has gone 
from 121 in 1990 to 198 in 2015.27 There 
has also been a long-term decline in 
air fares of around 60% between 1991 
and 2011.28 Improved connectivity 
to and from the UK facilitates inward 
investment and growth by increasing 
competition and bringing new ideas and 
ways of doing things to the UK.

0

100

200

300

400

Daily Weekly

201520102005200019951990201520102005200019951990

373
356347

290

247247

198
186

210

169

134
121

Figure 11  International destinations served by UK airports, 1990-2015

27 DfT Analysis of Civil Aviation Authority (2015): 
Airport Data

28 UK Government (2011): Reform of Air Passenger 
Duty – A consultation Page 60



43Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

International standards

5.5 Aviation standards are aligned across 
the world to ensure consistency in 
important areas such as safety, security 
and the environment. Worldwide 
standards are set by ICAO. Given 
the global nature of aviation, differing 
rules and regulations between national 
and regional jurisdictions can create 
problems. There are costs resulting 
from aviation businesses having to set 
up large regulatory compliance teams 
to ensure they are complying with a 
variety of standards and rules. The UK 
has significant influence in many of the 
international and regional bodies who 
are involved in setting global standards. 
The UK has led and co-ordinated these 
bodies to reduce problems and help 
ensure that UK passengers benefit from 
common baseline standards of safety 
and security wherever they travel.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Exports

Imports

SeaAir
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160
£ Billions of Non-EU trade  Million tonnes of Non-EU trade

Exports

Imports

SeaAir

Figure 12  UK non-EU trade by air and sea (2015)

Air freight

5.6 The UK has a successful air freight 
sector, which we rely upon to support 
our industries to move goods around 
the world and import them into the UK. 
As shown in Figure 12, in 2015 goods 
worth around £160 billion were shipped 
by air between the UK and non-EU 
countries. Air was the only mode 
used where exports were greater than 
imports. This represented over 40% of 
the UK’s extra-EU trade by value and 
shows the importance of aviation to our 
global trade.29 Goods shipped by air 
freight tend to be of a high value, such 
as pharmaceuticals, bespoke or high 
quality manufactured goods and fresh 
food. Heathrow handles 65% of our air 
freight, with East Midlands Airport and 
Stansted being the next largest airports 
for freight transport. The importance 
of Heathrow to the air freight market, 
and its potential for growth, was an 
important argument for supporting the 
proposed expansion there. 

29 HMRC trade statistics, 2015Page 61



44 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

5.7 The UK has well developed air freight 
connections which, when combined 
with good quality customs services and 
smart borders, ensures countries are 
better integrated. The UK is currently 
only 13th on the Air Trade Facilitation 
Index (ATFI) and 22nd on the eFreight 
Friendliness Index (EFFI), both of which 
are measurements compiled by the 
International Air Transport Association 
(IATA) to measure the ease and 
efficiency of air freight processes across 
the world. 

Figure 13  Current UK position on ATFI and EFFI

Trade

5.8 Companies that export goods and 
services contribute 60% of the UK’s 
productivity growth.30 Aviation supports 
our manufacturing and service sectors by 
moving people travelling on business and 
high value and time critical goods across 
the world. Aviation has a key role to play 
in achieving the government’s ambitions 
to increase productivity and grow the 
economy. As part of its objective to 
support sustainable economic growth, 
the government will look at how best to 
encourage regional connectivity to ensure 
these opportunities are open to the whole 
of the UK.

30 BIS (2011): International Trade and Investment – 
the Economic Rationale for Government SupportPage 62



45Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Expertise

5.9 The UK has world-leading aviation 
expertise, from our regulatory model 
and expertise at the CAA, to our Air 
Traffic Management (ATM) providers 
and airport operators. The UK also 
has a great deal of expertise in the 
aerospace sector, and this is discussed 
in Chapter 8. The government supports 
the sector through consistently scanning 
the globe for trade opportunities, 
liaising with foreign governments and 
facilitating relationships. Government 
continues to promote our world-leading 
aviation industry and help businesses 
to bid for important contracts overseas. 
This is part of the government’s plan 
to develop an industrial strategy which 
works for the aviation sector.

Challenges for the future
Improving our global connectivity

5.10 The government is committed to 
building a truly global Britain, being 
a firm advocate of free trade and 
supporting exports and inward 
investment. This includes keeping close 
ties to our European neighbours, and 
reaching beyond the borders of Europe 
to grow our connections across the 
world. This is especially relevant to the 
aviation sector, where the government 
wants to continue to encourage the 
widest access possible to aviation 
markets for consumers and businesses. 

5.11 In the short term, post-referendum, 
the government is focused on the 
44 countries including EU member 
states, the US and Canada, where our 
market access is via EU-negotiated 
agreements. Alternative arrangements 
will be required for air services to or 
from these countries when the UK 
leaves the EU. New arrangements are a 
top priority for the government. 

5.12 The government has been engaging 
closely with industry on the impact 
of leaving the EU and will continue to 
do so. It is committed to working with 
the sector to get the best possible 
deal for UK aviation, including for 
the EU-negotiated agreements. The 
planned consultations on the Aviation 
Strategy will look more broadly and 
over a longer timeframe at the UK’s 
aviation agreements. The government 
will consider whether there is more it 
could do to further liberalise market 
access arrangements for the UK to 
deliver greater connectivity and choice. 
It is interested in exploring whether 
current priorities in ASAs are well 
matched to where the greatest gains 
lie for businesses and consumers. 
As passenger numbers grow it will 
be important to ensure the UK has 
enough airport and airspace capacity 
to manage this in a sustainable way, 
and this is explored in more detail in 
Chapter 7.

Page 63



46 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Strengthening our leadership on the 
global stage 

5.13 As a global leader in aviation the UK 
has considerable international influence. 
It is important that we continue to lead 
the creation of effective, streamlined 
standards in the interests of UK industry 
and consumers. The government wants 
to fully examine our role in supporting 
agreed standards in order to identify 
where there may be opportunities to 
reduce imbalances in this global market. 
The government will also consider the 
most effective way to achieve its aims, 
whether this is by staying involved in 
the development of all standards or by 
focusing resources on standards that 
are particularly important to the UK.

Facilitating and supporting trade

5.14 To deliver on the promise of a global 
Britain, the UK must take positive 
steps to reduce barriers to trade. The 
UK’s position on the ATFI and EFFI 
shows that there is progress to be 
made in reducing barriers to trade. 
The government will investigate what 
these issues might be for companies 
who are part of the aviation sector 
and their customers, and how they 
might be reduced. DfT will work with 
the Department for International Trade 
(DIT) and the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to 
see what more can be done to support 
this sector around the country, including 
looking at how aviation is linked up 
with other modes of transport. The 
government also wants to explore what 
more can be done to leverage UK skills 
and experience overseas, the benefits 
that further international collaboration 
could bring and what more the 
government could do to promote the 
air transport and aerospace sector to 
encourage the right connections and 
attract inward investment. 

Questions for the strategy
5.15 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• identifying priorities for future 
Air Service Agreements and 
how government can support 
the connectivity needed by UK 
businesses

• how the UK can further harmonise 
standards at the international level 
to enhance connectivity and trade, 
and reduce the costs of cross-
border movement. For example, by 
looking at whether there are areas 
where current standards are limiting 
growth and imposing unnecessary 
burdens on businesses 

• identifying the specific obstacles 
that may be faced by the air freight 
industry and how the government 
can help it to grow

• exploring what more the 
government could be doing to 
promote the exports of our aviation 
and aerospace sectors overseas 
and attract inward investment

Page 64



47Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Encourage competitive 
markets

Page 65



48 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

6. Encourage competitive markets 

Context
6.1 The UK has built an impressive 

reputation for air transport and 
aerospace. By supporting the 
growth of these sectors our overall 
aviation sector has become one of 
the most competitive in the world. 
The government wants to continue 
this success and is aiming to ensure 
our markets work effectively and our 
industries are competitive. This chapter 
addresses the need to encourage 
competitive markets that work for 
consumers. 

Approach to date
6.2 More than in any other country, UK 

aviation operates in the private sector 
and in a competitive environment. 
Airlines choose where to base aircraft, 
where to fly, what fares to charge, 
what in-flight service levels to provide 
and which aeroplanes to use. Airports 
choose what investments to make 
and what airport charges to impose. 
The rest of the sector operates in a 
similar way, with firms competing with 
each other to attract customers. The 
more competition there is, the more 
effort businesses have to put in to 
attract users. This brings benefits for 
consumers. 

6.3 Competition is vital for making sure 
that markets work well for consumers. 
It encourages innovation, drives 
businesses to improve the quality of 
goods and services they offer, leads 
to more choice for consumers and 
maintains a pressure on firms to 
keep their prices low. It also makes 
UK industry competitive globally. The 
benefits of competition in the aviation 
sector are clear. As the sector has 
become more competitive, the real cost 
of air travel and air freight has reduced, 
with passengers having a greater choice 
of destinations and airlines, and freight 
owners being served in a number of 
different ways.

Airports

6.4 The UK is served by over 50 airports 
offering commercial flights, with many 
more airfields offering cargo and non-
scheduled aviation facilities. The CAA 
has a duty to promote competition 
across the airport sector, with powers 
that are held jointly with the Competition 
and Markets Authority (CMA). There 
are also a number of airport specific 
regulations to ensure that airport 
charges are clear, fair and objectively 
set, and to ensure that airports do not 
unfairly restrict third party access to 
ground handling services. 

Page 66



49Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

6.5 Despite this, there are certain airports 
that have substantial market power 
and are not exposed to sufficient levels 
of competition. Under a framework 
established in 2012, the CAA licences 
and regulates these airports to make 
sure that they act in the interests of 
their users.31 The CAA can impose 
conditions in relation to issues such 
as prices and service quality. The 
CAA currently regulates two airports 
under this framework – Heathrow and 
Gatwick. 

Slots

6.6 The purpose of the existing slot 
allocation system is to make efficient 
use of airport capacity and reduce 
potential for airport congestion which 
could lead to delays for airlines and 
passengers. This process is co-
ordinated by Airport Coordination 
Limited (ACL) and is entirely 
independent of the government, the 
CAA and other interested parties. 
It is based on EU regulations which 
determine how slots are allocated to 
airlines.32

State aid

6.7 In a private, competitive market, firms 
should be able to operate without 
government support. Airports should 
cover their operating costs and 
fund the infrastructure they need, 
and airlines should determine the 
routes they operate. There are limited 
circumstances where public support 
may be appropriate. Currently rules 
determining these circumstances are 
set out in EU guidelines on state aid for 
airports and airlines. 

31 Civil Aviation Act 2012

32 Regulation EEC 93/95, as amended by EC 
793/2004, on the common rules for the allocation 
of slots at Community airports.

Air navigation services 

6.8 Air traffic control between airports is 
currently provided by a single supplier, 
NATS. NATS is regulated and licensed 
by the CAA, who impose conditions 
in relation to price, service quality and 
operational resilience under a similar 
framework to that used for airports that 
have substantial market power. 

6.9 Air traffic control services at airports 
operate in a competitive market. 
Airports either tender the service to a 
third party provider, or choose to self-
supply the service. While the market 
has previously been dominated by 
NSL (a subsidiary of NATS), other 
suppliers are coming into the market. 
The government will look at how further 
competition can be encouraged. 

Challenges for the future
Maintaining a competitive airports market

6.10 The government wants to consider 
its overall approach to ensuring 
a competitive airport sector with 
appropriate economic regulation. It 
would like to explore the interactions 
between airports, customers, and 
other service providers at airports, and 
consider whether current competition 
rules and the enforcement of them are 
working for the consumer.

Page 67



50 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Maximising competition amongst airlines

6.11 The government wants to test the 
widely-held assumption that the airline 
market is fairly competitive. It would like 
to use the consultation on this objective 
to consider views on how effectively 
competition law is enforced within the 
airline market, whether more could be 
done to encourage competition, and 
whether there are any further steps to 
liberalisation the government should be 
considering.

6.12 The government understands that there 
are concerns from industry and others 
about the impact that Air Passenger 
Duty (APD) has on the competitiveness 
of UK aviation. It also recognises that 
APD is the only tax paid by the airline 
sector. This is an area of policy led 
by HM Treasury and the government 
is keen to explore the impact of APD 
on competitiveness and how aviation 
taxation policy could support the 
objectives of the strategy.

Boosting regional connectivity

6.13 The government recognises that 
airports across the UK make a vital 
contribution to the health of the whole 
country. Airports outside the South East 
do not always have the connections 
with global markets of some of their 
competitors. Consequently, these 
areas can miss out on trade-related 
economic activity and tourism. The 
Airports Commission’s final report 
recommended that government 
consider using public service obligations 
(PSOs) to support a widespread 
network of domestic routes at 
Heathrow. The government will consider 
the level of connectivity our nations and 
regions require to support economic 
growth, whether the market is able to 
provide this, and what the role is for 
government support.  

Reviewing slots regulations

6.14 Existing slot regulations are based on 
the assumption that as airports become 
congested, they invest in additional 
capacity. It assumes that slots should 
be allocated in a non-discriminatory 
way, with some priority for new entrants. 
A number of airports within the UK have 
limited or no spare capacity at certain 
times in the day, and airports such as 
Heathrow and Gatwick have little or no 
spare capacity at any time. This has led 
to airlines finding it increasingly difficult 
to acquire slots at some airports. While 
there is a secondary trading market 
for slots, the price tags can often 
be restrictively high. Combined with 
the non-market mechanism for slot 
allocation and rules around ‘grandfather 
rights’, it has been argued that the 
allocation process can limit competition, 
to the detriment of passengers.

Achieving the right balance on state aid 

6.15 The government would like to explore 
whether current state aid rules are 
correctly balanced in the aviation sector. 
It wants to ensure that state funding 
does not distort competition and the 
effective functioning of markets. It also 
wants to support projects with wider 
economic or social benefits which might 
otherwise be under-resourced.

Page 68



51Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Maintaining and encouraging competition 
in air navigation services

6.16 The government will consider whether 
more could be done to encourage new 
air navigation service suppliers to enter 
the market and compete with existing 
suppliers. The strategy will consider 
how new technologies might open 
up the market and help to increase 
competition, and whether there is a  
role for government in promoting this. 

Making the most of our general  
aviation network

6.17 General aviation (GA) covers a wide 
range of activities, from business jets 
and air taxis through to hobbyists flying 
aircraft they have built themselves. 
The GA sector plays an important 
role in the overall aviation world, 
delivering economic benefits but also 
encouraging many people to become 
involved in aviation. The most recent 
General Aviation Strategy33 set out the 
government’s vision for the GA sector 
and made a number of commitments 
for reform. There are specific issues 
that the government is keen to better 
understand. These include: the 
decline in the numbers of leisure pilots 
and aircraft; the tensions between 
the needs of scheduled and non-
scheduled aviation regarding access 
to airspace and airport infrastructure; 
and the closure of some smaller 
airports, airfields and airstrips. The 
government is interested in gaining a 
better understanding of the benefits and 
requirements of the sector, and whether 
it is possible to identify a strategic 
network or level of infrastructure to 
enable the sector to continue its 
valuable role.

33 UK Government (2015): General Aviation Strategy 

Questions for the strategy
6.18 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• whether the existing slot regulation 
produces the best outcome for the 
consumer in terms of competition, 
routes and prices

• where significant additional slot 
capacity is being brought forward, 
whether the existing slot regulations 
produce the best outcomes for the 
consumer in terms of competition, 
routes and prices

• the potential impact of Air 
Passenger Duty on competitiveness 
and the ability of airlines to start new 
routes

• whether state aid rules ensure fair 
and open competition

• what more could be done to 
encourage competition in the Air 
Navigation Services market and 
what impact new technologies 
could have on this

• what the strategic needs of the UK’s 
general aviation network are, and 
how to meet these while balancing 
this with other market based factors

Page 69



52 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Support growth while tackling 
environmental impacts

Page 70



53Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7. Support growth while tackling 
environmental impacts 

Context
7.1 Aviation is an important vehicle for growth 

and crucial to building a strong economy. 
The sector creates jobs and supports 
growth right across the UK. The aviation 
industry has recovered strongly since the 
global recession at the end of the last 
decade, with UK passenger numbers 
now at a record high. 

7.2 Aviation brings huge benefits to the 
economy and society, but this growth 
comes at an environmental cost, both at 
the local and global level. Government 
and industry have a vital role in ensuring 
that the aviation sector grows in a 
sustainable way. The strategy will 
explore how government can work with 
the aviation, aerospace, and air traffic 
management sectors to build on the 
progress already made, and ensure that 
the UK leads the way in exploiting all 
opportunities to reduce its environmental 
impacts. Government’s role in managing 
environmental impacts includes 
setting a policy framework which 
encourages industry to address these 
issues, funding cutting-edge research 
and development, shaping global 
agreements, and developing appropriate 
regulation where it is needed. 

Approach to date
Investment and capacity

7.3 The government believes that aviation 
infrastructure plays an important role 
in contributing to economic growth 
with the connectivity it provides. A 
number of airports across the UK 
have invested heavily over the past 
few years in their infrastructure. Bristol 
Airport recently completed a £150 
million investment project. This will 
allow them to accommodate 10 million 
passengers each year. Manchester 
Airport has started work on their £100 
million terminal transformation project. 
Beyond airports, many others in the 
aviation sector have been investing 
in infrastructure to support growth, 
including DHL who have invested £90 
million in facilities at East Midlands 
Airport to ensure the UK’s export 
market continues to grow. Government 
investment in transport schemes also 
continues to improve access to our 
airports. 

Page 71



54 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7.4 To ensure that the UK can maintain 
its long-term connectivity, the 
government set out its preference for 
additional capacity in the South East 
to be provided through the Northwest 
Runway at Heathrow. It has recently 
consulted on the draft NPS, which 
set out the requirements the applicant 
would need to meet in order to secure 
development consent for the preferred 
scheme. 

7.5 A new runway at Heathrow will drive 
economic growth throughout the whole 
of the UK, but airports beyond the 
South East also play a vital role in 
providing direct domestic and international 
connectivity. They also act as a focal 
point for business development and 
employment across all regions. 
Therefore government’s approach to 
expansion at these airports has been to 
support growth where environmental 
impacts can be managed.

Airspace

7.6 The government is committed to 
modernising UK airspace. This will make 
best use of advanced technologies and 
air traffic control techniques to reduce 
environmental impacts on communities 
and delays for airlines and their 
passengers, for example through the 
reduction of stacking and the ability of 
getting aircraft higher quicker.

7.7 In its recent airspace consultation the 
government has focused on providing 
high level direction and support for 
modernisation, as well as taking a 
bottom up approach to facilitating 
individual airspace changes by 
ensuring that the relevant policies and 
procedures are fit for purpose. Current 
government policy leaves industry 
to propose their own modernisation 
schemes and progress airspace 
changes, which are independently 
assessed by the CAA. 

Surface access

7.8 Although the government does not 
invest in airport infrastructure, it 
does have a significant role to play in 
providing transport access – ensuring 
that airports are connected to the 
existing national road and rail networks 
and that those networks have sufficient 
capacity to handle the traffic moving 
through those gateways. As Figure 14 
shows, people use a variety of means to 
get to and from airports.

Page 72



55Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Public Transport

Taxi/Minicab

Car

Manchester

Stansted

Luton

Heathrow

Gatwick

Figure 14  Mode of travel to and from the UK’s biggest airports34

7.9 The government’s existing road and rail 
investment strategies explicitly consider 
the links to airports, and contain a 
number of investment projects to 
provide better access. These include 
the £15 billion investment in Crossrail, 
which will connect to Heathrow; the 
£6 billion Thameslink programme, 
providing benefits to Gatwick; and other 
commitments such as HS2, which will 
improve access to both Birmingham 
and Manchester airports. 

7.10 The government’s current policy on the 
provision of new or upgraded transport 
access is for airport operators to pay 
for upgrading or enhancing road, rail or 
other transport networks or services, 
where there is a need to cope with 
additional passengers travelling to and 
from airports. To support this process 
airports should set out their proposals  
in an airport master plan and in a 

34 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Passenger Survey 
Report

corresponding airport surface access 
strategy, which should be prepared in 
consultation with relevant interested 
parties. Where the scheme has a wider 
range of beneficiaries, the government 
will consider the need for additional 
public funding on an individual basis.

Noise

7.11 The government has typically favoured 
local solutions when dealing with 
aviation-related noise. The recent 
airspace consultation contained 
proposals for local authorities to ensure 
that correct processes are followed 
when implementing noise-related 
operating restrictions on airports, 
and for airports themselves to set 
other noise controls. It also included 
the proposal to establish a new 
independent body to provide advice on 
best practice in noise management. 

7.12 All aircraft noise management should 
be guided by the internationally agreed 

Page 73



56 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

ICAO ‘balanced approach’. There are 
four main elements to this approach:

• reduction of noise through 
technological improvements  
to aircraft 

• land use planning, charging  
and compensation 

• noise reduction through better 
operational practices 

• operating restrictions on aircraft, 
including phasing out the noisiest 
aircraft, night time restrictions and 
noise quotas 

Air quality

7.13 The government’s current policy on 
aviation-related air quality is to seek 
improved international standards to 
reduce emissions from aircraft and 
to encourage the aviation industry to 
introduce measures to reduce those 
emissions for which it is responsible. 
The £1.95 billion that the government 
has committed for civil aerospace 
research and development (R&D) 
will also contribute towards the 
development of the next generation 
of commercial aircraft, with the aim 
of reduced emissions and noise. The 
government will shortly publish a final 
national air quality plan including further 
measures to improve air quality. 

Carbon emissions

7.14 On climate change, which is a global 
rather than a local environmental 
issue, the government’s position is that 
action to address these emissions is 
best taken at the international level. 
Global action allows for progress in 
reducing aviation’s climate change 
impacts whilst minimising the risks 
of competitive disadvantage to the 
UK aviation industry. This position is 
shared internationally. Emissions from 

international aviation are tackled at the 
sectoral level through ICAO, which has 
been working for a number of years on 
measures to achieve its goal of carbon-
neutral growth for the sector from 2020. 

7.15 Measures include technological 
improvements, operational measures, 
sustainable alternative fuels and market-
based measures. The government 
agrees that a combination of measures 
and approaches are needed to tackle 
this issue. The government is also 
looking to make progress at a domestic 
level, including by encouraging the 
production and use of new aviation 
fuels in the UK. It has consulted on 
a proposal to extend the Renewable 
Transport Fuels Obligation35 eligibility 
to aviation fuels, and has announced 
capital support for UK-based 
sustainable aviation fuel plants.

35 Requirement on transport fuel suppliers to ensure 
that certain amounts of the fuel they supply is from 
sustainable renewable sources. Page 74



57Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7.16 Emissions from international aviation 
(along with international shipping 
emissions) are currently excluded from 
the legally-binding 2050 target which 
was set by the Climate Change Act 
2008 and from the five carbon budgets 
which have been set to date (covering 
the period up to 2032). However, the 
UK’s carbon budgets have been set at 
a level that accounts for international 
aviation and shipping emissions, so 
that the UK is on a trajectory that could 
be consistent with a 2050 target that 
includes these emissions. 

Challenges for the future
7.17 The government has already taken 

significant steps to meet the challenges 
of a growing sector. It has:

• consulted on a draft NPS for its 
preferred option of a third runway at 
Heathrow

• consulted on UK airspace policy 
in order to deliver the necessary 
framework and direction to unlock 
the benefits of modernised airspace, 
while addressing the local impacts 
of aviation noise

• shaped the agreement of a global 
scheme to control the carbon 
emissions from international aviation

7.18 However there is still further work 
required if we are to reap the benefits 
that aviation can deliver for this country 
and ensure its environmental impacts 
are addressed.

Making best use of existing capacity

7.19 The government has set out its 
preferred option for one new runway 
in the South East by 2030 and in the 
Aviation Policy Framework expressed 
its support for the growth of airports 
in Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales 
and airports outside the South East 
of England. The Airports Commission 
noted in its final report that a new 
runway will not open for at least 
10 years and it is vital that the UK 
continues to grow its domestic and 
international connectivity in this period, 
which will require the more intensive use 
of existing airport capacity.

7.20 Strong growth in passengers over the 
past five years, including in the South 
East of England is putting significant 
pressure on existing infrastructure, 
despite significant financial investments 
by airports over the past decade. We 
are aware that a number of airports 
have plans to invest further, allowing 
them to accommodate passenger 
growth over the next decade using 
their existing runways, which may need 
to be accompanied by applications to 
increase existing caps. The government 
agrees with the Airports Commission’s 
recommendation that there is a 
requirement for more intensive use 
of existing airport capacity and is 
minded to be supportive of all airports 
who wish to make best use of their 
existing runways including those in the 
South East. The exception to this is 
Heathrow, whose proposed expansion 
is proceeding through the draft Airports 
NPS process.  

Page 75



58 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7.21 Airports with planning restrictions that 
wish to take forward plans to develop 
their airport and increase the utilisation 
of existing runways beyond those 
restrictions will still need to submit a 
planning application to the relevant 
authority, which we consider should be 
judged on the application’s individual 
merits. As part of the consideration of 
any planning application environmental 
issues, such as noise and air quality, 
and other issues that supported the 
existing planning restrictions will be 
taken into account. Due to the recent 
rise in growth, the government believes 
that this issue cannot wait until the 
publication of a new Aviation Strategy. 
Therefore, as part of the call for 
evidence, it would welcome views with 
regards to this proposed policy.

Future growth beyond 2030

7.22 Since 2010, the number of passengers 
flying from and to UK airports has 
increased by 27% with almost 270 
million passengers now passing through 
UK airports. Most airports in the UK 
are now flying more passengers than 
ever before, with airports such as 
Gatwick, Manchester, Luton, Edinburgh, 
Birmingham, Glasgow and London City 
all experiencing growth in excess of 
35% since 2010. The government plans 
to publish revised aviation forecasts 
which will make use of DfT’s updated 
aviation model. These forecasts will 
take account of new economic and 
environment data, while rebasing the 
model to take account of recent growth.

7.23 The government has set out its 
preferred option for an additional 
runway in the South East, which will be 
required by 2030. Beyond this there 
will be a need for the government to 
consider whether there is a need for 
a new framework to be developed to 
allow airports to grow sustainably and if 
so what that framework should look like.

Modernising our airspace

7.24 As demand for air travel has grown, 
so too have the demands placed on 
our airspace. If we are to foster growth 
and investment in the sector, we need 
to make efficient use of airspace. This 
includes using modern technology 
to its fullest effect. We also need to 
make sure that communities affected 
by current and new flightpaths are fully 
engaged. For example, they should 
be involved in the decisions on where 
aircraft are allowed to fly, and the times 
when they can do so. 

7.25 Airspace modernisation is required right 
across the UK and we need to consider 
how it can be best delivered. The 
government, CAA, NATS, airports and 
air navigation service providers will all 
have roles to play in the success of the 
programme.

7.26 In the recent airspace consultation 
the government focused on providing 
high level direction and making sure 
the policies for individual airspace 
changes are fit for purpose. This 
approach left the proposal and pursuit 
of airspace changes to the regulator 
and the market. As part of the Aviation 
Strategy the government will consider 
the roles, structures and powers that 
currently exist and what, if any, new 
ones will be necessary to bring about 
the network wide, co-ordinated and 
complex changes needed for airspace 
modernisation. Page 76



59Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Ensuring a resilient aviation market

7.27 As the busiest airports operate their 
infrastructure close to capacity limits 
they often see a reduced ability to 
recover from disruption caused by, for 
example adverse weather. Significant 
impacts from such disruptions have 
been seen in recent years at Heathrow, 
and increasingly also at Gatwick as 
it has seen its spare capacity used 
up. Other airports across the country 
have also had to deal with similar 
disruption to their operations. Airports 
should therefore take into consideration 
how future investment, including 
in infrastructure, could be used to 
support greater resilience. In addition, 
complex IT systems and aviation’s 
reliance on many different secondary 
providers to support their operations 
creates additional resilience risks. The 
government therefore believes that 
airports and airlines should continue to 
have well-developed resilience plans 
in place, which should be shared with 
relevant stakeholders. 

Improving surface access

7.28 The government wants to ensure that 
its policy and guidance on transport 
access to airports continues to be 
effective and can provide both the 
clarity sought by airport operators but 
also an effective framework through 
which they can pursue their surface 
access plans. 

7.29 The government will review the 
effectiveness of its policy and guidance, 
and consider how co-ordination 
between government processes for 
transport access improvements and 
airport plans may be improved. It would 
also like to examine: how well current 
transport links meet airport users’ 
needs and understand what future 
infrastructure or service upgrades 
may be needed to address future 
airport growth. It will also consider the 
circumstances in which it is appropriate 
for government to provide funding for 
transport access to airports.

Reducing noise 

7.30 While there are benefits to living near 
airports, through employment and 
convenient access to an international 
gateway, aviation noise can have 
negative impacts on the quality of life 
of those living near airports and under 
flightpaths in terms of annoyance, sleep 
disturbance and health issues. It is 
recognised that opposition to airport 
expansion and airspace changes is 
driven primarily by local concerns about 
noise and that continuing growth in air 
traffic will make this more challenging. 
Industry has made substantial progress 
in reducing noise through better 
technology. New generation aircraft such 
as the Airbus A350 and Boeing 737-MAX 
have a noise footprint that is typically 
50% smaller on departure and 30% on 
arrival than the aircraft they are replacing. Page 77



60 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7.31 There has also been progress 
in developing quieter operating 
procedures, such as steeper angles of 
climb and descent. The government will 
continue to seek further progress from 
industry and will explore in the Strategy 
whether the right incentives are in place 
to reduce noise. This includes looking 
at how to manage trade-offs between 
optimising new aircraft design for noise 
or carbon, the use of noise charges at 
airports and mechanisms which ensure 
aircraft are flown in compliance with 
procedures to manage noise. 

7.32 Even as aircraft are getting quieter, 
recent evidence suggests people are 
becoming more sensitive to noise 
at lower levels and that the number 
of flights overhead can be a more 
significant factor than the average 
noise level, though annoyance is 
very subjective.36 The government’s 
recent consultation on airspace policy 
proposed changes in how noise 
should be assessed in the airspace 
change process, to take account of 
this evidence. However, there remains 
a challenge when technological 
improvements in noise reduction do not 
appear to be sufficient to deal with the 
negative impacts on some communities’ 
quality of life. 

36  CAA (2017): Survey of Noise Attitudes 2014: 
Aircraft

7.33 Given that conventional ways of 
mitigating noise have arguably failed to 
reduce public annoyance, particularly 
where there has been a noticeable 
increase in the number of flights, the 
government will explore whether a new 
approach to reducing noise annoyance 
is needed. This could include better 
information and engagement or creating 
a greater sense of ‘fairness’ and sharing 
of the benefits of aviation growth, 
including new forms of compensation 
and community investment. The 
strategy will also explore how 
sustainable growth should be defined 
in terms of noise. For example, whether 
it is possible to design targets for noise 
reduction and how best to monitor and 
report aviation noise at a national level.

Improving air quality

7.34 The aviation industry, including in 
partnership through Sustainable 
Aviation, is working to reduce airport-
related emissions through a range 
of measures. These include the 
more efficient operation of aircraft, 
introducing efficient new technology, 
using landing charges to incentivise 
cleaner aircraft, reducing vehicle 
emissions within the airport boundary 
and sustainable surface access. 
Through the development of an Aviation 
Strategy, the government would like 
to explore whether it should be taking 
a more proactive role in tackling air 
pollution from aviation. In doing so it will 
seek to better understand the impact 
of emissions on air quality and invites 
views on what more can be done to 
support airports in mitigating the impact 
on the health of communities. 

Page 78



61Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Reducing carbon emissions

7.35 Taking action to address carbon 
emissions from aviation is vital if we 
are to meet the international goal, 
set out in the UN climate change 
agreement in December 2015, to keep 
the global temperature rise this century 
to well below 2 degrees Celsius on 
pre-industrial levels, and to pursue 
efforts towards 1.5 degrees Celsius. 

7.36 In the UK, CO2 emissions from aviation 
use made up 8% of total UK emissions 
in 2015. However, as shown in Figure 
15, international and domestic aviation 
represented 22% of the UK’s total 
transport emissions.37

 Aviation’s share 
in total UK emissions has been steadily 
increasing as emissions from other 
sectors have fallen, but significant 
progress has been made over recent 
years in tackling the sector’s climate 
change impacts.

2015: 
444.2M Tonnes 
Carbon Dioxide 

equivalents

International and
Domestic Shipping

6%
Other

(inc. road)
6%

2015: 
159.1M Tonnes 
Carbon Dioxide 

equivalents

Energy
Supply
31%

Transport
36%

Cars
and Taxis

43%

HGVs
12%

Vans
11%

International 
and Domestic
Aviation 22%

Business
15%

Residential
14%

Other 14%

Figure 15  UK CO2 emissions by mode of transport (2015)38

37 Office for National Statistics (2015): Environmental 
Accounts UK Government – BEIS (2015): Final 
UK greenhouse gas emissions national statistics 
1990-2015

38 UK Government (2015): Final UK greenhouse gas 
emissions 1990-2015

7.37 Although it is challenging to 
decarbonise the aviation sector, there 
are ongoing efforts by industry, ICAO 
and government to reduce the sector’s 
emissions. There are strong market 
pressures for industry to act in this 
regard – fuel is a substantial part of an 
airline’s costs and saving fuel lowers 
costs as well as carbon emissions.

Page 79



62 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

7.38 ICAO, government and industry have 
together sought to identify the most 
effective routes to reduce the carbon 
being produced by aircraft. Some of the 
measures the government is currently 
taking to support the industry’s efforts 
are:

• accelerating the introduction of new 
technologies

• supporting the uptake of sustainable 
alternative fuels 

• committing to airspace 
modernisation both at the UK  
and international level

• shaping international market-based 
measures

7.39 In parallel to this call for evidence, the 
government is undertaking analysis to 
update the UK’s Marginal Abatement 
Cost Curve (MACC). This shows the 
relative cost effectiveness of various 
possible measures to tackle emissions. 
The results of this work, together with 
our updated demand forecasts, will 
give a clearer picture of the scale of the 
challenge and the consultation paper 
on this objective will set out more detail 
on the potential options to meet it. This 
could, potentially, address some of the 
policy trade-offs between optimising 
new aircraft design for carbon or noise 
reduction.

Questions for the strategy 
7.40 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• whether there should be a new 
framework to allow airports to grow 
sustainably, and if so what that 
framework should be

• whether the government has the 
right structures in place to support 
airspace modernisation

• how government and industry 
should address resilience issues 
both at specific airports and within 
the wider airport system

• what the government could do to 
help co-ordinate the planning and 
delivery of improved surface access 
to meet the needs of consumers

• how to encourage and improve 
connectivity across the regions 
and nations of the UK in a way that 
benefits the country as a whole

• how to ensure all regions of the UK 
have suitable connectivity to major 
airports

• how to achieve the right balance 
between growing the sector, and 
ensuring effective action is taken 
to tackle carbon emissions, reduce 
noise and improve air quality 

• whether the right incentives and 
regulations are in place to ensure 
industry continues to reduce noise, 
including the feasibility of noise 
targets 

• what the best approach and 
combination of policy measures are 
to ensure we effectively address 
carbon emissions from aviation

Page 80



63Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Develop innovation,
technology and skills

Page 81



64 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

8. Develop innovation, technology and skills

Context
8.1 The UK has a world-leading aerospace 

sector. The government is determined 
that the UK continues to be one of the 
best places in the world for science 
and innovation. This will build on a 
well-established partnership with the 
aerospace industry that has created  
one of the best environments for 
advanced and innovative aerospace 
engineering, design and manufacture. 
Government support and investment 
in research and development provides 
confidence to industry and encourages 
the aviation industry to invest in 
development and to secure thousands 
of jobs and skills across the UK. 
Examples of this include Rolls Royce’s 
investment of £75 million in a new 
facility in Solihull to design and develop 
engine control systems and their recent 
announcement of a £150 million aero-
engine test bed facility in Derby. 

8.2 The aviation industry requires skills for 
a wide range of careers, from cabin 
crew to air traffic controllers. 2018 is 
also the ‘Year of the Engineer’ and the 
air transport and aerospace sectors 
are some of the best examples of 
British engineering. The government 
wants to explore how it can work with 
the industry to ensure people have 
the skills they need to work in these 
sectors, both now and in the future. 
This chapter looks at the approach to 
date in supporting innovation and the 
development of emerging technologies 
which have the potential to change the 
way we travel or have a major impact 
on consumers. It also examines the 
challenge of ensuring that the UK 
continues to be at the forefront of 
developments in the sector and to 
develop the skills base that the UK 
needs to succeed.

Approach to date
UK aerospace sector

8.3 The UK’s civil aerospace sector is 
second only in size to the United States, 
with strengths in making some of the 
most technologically advanced parts 
of aircraft including wings, engines and 
advanced systems such as landing 
gear. The UK aerospace industry has 
an annual turnover of almost £32 billion 
and an export market worth almost £30 
billion.39 It directly supports 110,000 
jobs, as well as indirectly supporting 

39 ONS (2016): Turnover in UK Production and  
Great Britain Service Industries (TOPSI) and  
Trade in GoodsPage 82



65Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

110,000 other jobs in the wider supply 
chain.40 

8.4 The global aerospace sector has been 
growing at a rate of around 5% a year, 
and production levels have continued to 
increase to meet the demand for new 
and more fuel efficient aircraft. Airbus 
and Boeing now have order backlogs 
of around eight years’ work. Over 
34,000 new large passenger aircraft 
and freighters are needed by 2036. 
The demand for new aircraft is forecast 
to be worth around $6.2 trillion. This 
represents a significant opportunity 
for the UK to maintain and increase its 
global market share. 

8.5 With such global demand, emerging 
aerospace markets, such as Brazil, 
China and India, are seeking to develop 
their sectors to compete with more 
established aerospace economies such 
as our own. 

8.6 One way in which the UK Government 
works with the aerospace sector 
is through the Aerospace Growth 
Partnership (AGP). The AGP published 
a refreshed industrial strategy for UK 
aerospace, called ‘Means of Ascent’, in 
July 2015. This set out work under way 
in areas such as technology, supply 
chain competitiveness, manufacturing 
capability and skills. 

40 DfT analysis of ONS (2016): Business Register and 
Employment Survey (BRES)

41 ATI (2016): Technology Strategy and Portfolio 
Update 2016

Commercial UAS, $0.06

Regional and turboprops, $0.15

Helicopters, $0.17

Business Jets, $0.55

Widebody, $2.80

Narrowbody, $2.50

Source: ATI analysis

Estimated value
US$6.2 Trillion

Figure 16  Value of forecast deliveries (2016-2035)41

8.7 Other key initiatives supported by the 
AGP include: Sharing in Growth (SiG), 
a £250 million intensive performance 
improvement programme backed with 
£80m public funding; and the National 
Aerospace Technology Exploitation 
Programme (NATEP), a £40 million 
programme, backed with £23 million 
public funding, which helps small and 
medium sized aerospace companies 
develop technology and get it to market 
quickly. The AGP has also created 500 
additional masters level postgraduate 
places for aerospace, and launched 
an Aerospace Industrial Cadets 
Programme – for employers to run 
accredited work-placements for young 
people to develop appropriate skills, 
with a nationally recognised award at 
the end.

Page 83



66 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

8.8 The government helps to coordinate 
international export and investment 
promotion campaigns. These target 
foreign direct investment activity to 
strategically enhance the UK supply 
chain, including in areas like aircraft 
interiors. On the export side, UK Export 
Finance plays a key role in assisting 
aerospace exporters, supporting over 
£4.2 billion of exports over the past  
five years. 

Research and development

8.9 The UK design, digital and 
manufacturing sectors are pushing 
technological boundaries to increase 
productivity and reduce costs across 
aerospace and beyond. This ranges 
from lowering fuel use and reducing 
carbon emissions through new engines, 
fuels and aircraft, to strengthening and 
streamlining our security screening 
at airports to improve the movement 
of both passengers and freight. 
Government has traditionally taken a 
technology neutral approach, providing 
policy support for research and 
development, encouraging the aviation 
industry to build its own roadmap for 
future technologies and amending 
regulations to allow technologies to  
be used correctly.

8.10 The UK’s share of the industry is 
supported by a strong Research 
and Technology (R&T) framework 
of government financial support, 
world-class academic and research 
organisations, and a workforce that is 
highly skilled. In a growing global market 
it is important that the UK can capture 
the benefits of new aircraft demand, 
new technologies and supply chain 
export potential. This is one of the key 
drivers for the UK’s strong innovative 
approach to aviation technology and 
R&T. Government and industry, through 

the actions of organisations such as 
the AGP, the Aerospace Technology 
Institute (ATI) and Innovate UK, are 
working to promote the competitiveness 
of UK companies, while increasing 
productivity and reducing aviation’s 
environmental footprint.

8.11 The government is supporting 
investment in this area. It has 
committed, through BEIS, £1.95 
billion for aerospace research and 
development from 2013 to 2026. This is 
matched by industry to give a joint fund 
of just under £4 billion. ATI published an 
updated national technology strategy for 
UK aerospace in 2016 called ‘Raising 
Ambition’ and provides strategic advice 
to support investment decisions. Some 
180 projects, worth £1.5 billion, are 
currently underway. They involve over 
200 organisations, including SMEs, 
universities and research organisations. 
The majority of the projects that are 
supported are to help develop more 
environmentally-friendly aircraft (that 
are lighter, quieter, more fuel efficient 
and with lower emissions) and new 
manufacturing processes to increase 
competitiveness and productivity. These 
include pioneering research on smart, 
connected and electric aircraft projects, 
as well as the design of aircraft, wings 
and engines of the future.

Regulatory framework 

8.12 It is not just funding that is required 
to realise the benefits of new and 
emerging technologies or innovation. 
The policy and regulatory framework 
is usually designed for the current 
state of the world, and may sometimes 
act as a barrier to the development 
or uptake of new technologies or 
innovative business models. This 
can sometimes stifle competition, 
innovation and the emergence of 

Page 84



67Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

smaller challenger businesses or SMEs, 
all of which could bring cost reductions 
and business developments that 
would benefit consumers and freight. 
The government is keen to explore 
how its approach to regulation can 
be sufficiently agile to accommodate 
and encourage innovation, rather than 
acting as a barrier, while at the same 
time maintaining one of the safest and 
most open regulatory frameworks 
in the world. New technologies may 
require new approaches. Two examples 
of where the government already 
has programmes in place to support 
emerging markets in new forms of 
transport are drones and commercial 
spaceflight. 

New frontiers – drones and space

8.13 Nearly 3,000 commercial drone 
operator licenses have already 
been issued by the CAA, with uses 
ranging from search and rescue 
to inspecting infrastructure. PWC 
estimate that drones could carry out 
work currently valued at over £100 
billion. There is an opportunity for 
this technology to improve safety, 
efficiency and effectiveness across 
the economy, as well as improving the 
consumer experience of aviation. The 
government’s consultation on drones 
presented a range of approaches to 
ensure that the risks of widespread 
drone use are balanced against the 
huge potential benefits.42 

42 UK Government (2016): Benefits of drones to the 
UK economy – consultation

8.14 Drones are closely associated with 
innovation in digital technology, both 
as users and creators of information. 
The NATS Drone Assist app provides 
drone users with data they need to 
operate safely, with over 10,000 users 
in the first 10 weeks of operation. 
The need for this data will increase 
as drones become a more significant 
proportion of airspace users and begin 
to operate autonomously. The ability 
to provide high resolution mapping 
data and real time imagery brings 
great possibilities, and opens up new 
market opportunities, but it also raises 
potential questions about privacy and 
data protection. Drones are an example 
of where a new technology is having 
an effect on the market and where 
government needs to react to make 
sure that the policy and regulatory 
framework supports the realisation of 
the potential benefits. 

8.15 At the other end of the spectrum is 
government’s role in enabling space 
launch from the UK for the first time. 
Although the UK has been licensing 
satellite operations and overseas 
launch for many years, there is 
currently no regulatory framework 
to allow spaceflight operations from 
the UK and therefore no market for 
operators or spaceports. This presents 
an opportunity to create a flexible 
framework which can adjust and react 
easily to an emerging industry, where 
types of technology and methods of 
operation are still to be proven. The 
CAA will build a close partnership with 
the UK Space Agency to regulate these 
new activities. With this regulatory 
environment in place, the flow of 
technology developments between 
aviation and space sectors is likely 
to bring more benefits. These could 
include space tourism or new forms  
of aerospace technology. Page 85



68 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Environmental
Aviation environmental 
regulations would apply 
to operations and cover 
noise, air quality and 
storage of materials
(e.g. fuel)  

Runway 
An established large 
site with a runway that 
is at least, or capable 
of being extended to 
3000m (9,800ft)

Weather
Operations would 
require favourable 
meteorological 
conditions 

Safety
Located away from 
densely populated 
areas and at a coastal 
location 

Airspace
Spaceplane operations 
would need to be
conducted in segregated 
special use airspace 
away from normal air 
traffic routes

UkSpaceport Essential criteria (concept visual)

Transport
The location would 
need to be accessible 
to both employees 
and visitors and have 
suitable transport links 

Figure 17  New spaceports will allow for space launch operations from the UK, delivering small satellites to space and sub-orbital 
flights for experiments

8.16 Data from satellites is an increasingly 
important tool for a wide range of 
economic sectors, ranging from sports 
broadcasting to earth observation. 
This new regulation will help UK 
manufacturers and users of satellites to 
remain competitive in the emerging new 
space sector, as they create benefits 
for consumers. In addition to satellite 
launch, the opportunities for research 
in low or micro-gravity conditions from 
sub-orbital launch (altitudes far above 
commercial aircraft airspace) will aid 
our universities and research centres 
in carrying out experiments. It will even 
have applications in the drone sector, to 
aid in tracking and managing drones in 
civilian air space.

Page 86



69Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Jobs and training

8.17 Taken together, the air transport and 
aerospace sectors combined provide 
the UK with over half a million jobs, 
either directly or indirectly, and often in 
high value roles.43 Employment in the 
overall aviation sector is spread right 
across all regions of the UK, as shown 
by Figure 18.

0 10000 20000 30000

Jobs

40000 50000 60000

Service incidental to Air Transport

Air Transport

Aerospace repair and maintenance

Aerospace manufacture

North East

Yorkshire and
The Humber

West
Midlands

Wales

Scotland

East
Midlands

East

South West

North West

South East

London

Figure 18  Direct aviation employment by region (2015)44

43 DfT analysis of Office of National Statistics (2016): 
Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES)

44 Direct employment only (excludes Northern 
Ireland)

8.18 The sector requires a broad range 
of skills in a variety of roles including 
air navigation, piloting, cabin crew, 
construction, maintenance, operations 
and air traffic services. Much of this 
specialised training is provided by the 
industry and benefits local communities 
and regions throughout the UK. As well 
as providing training in the more obvious 
roles such as ground handling, airports 
also train staff to perform security and 
rescue services such as firefighting. 

Page 87



70 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90
Thousand employees in UK airlines

Pilots and co-pilots

Maintenance and overhaul personnel

Cabin attendants

All other personnel

Tickets and sales personnel

20152005

21%

7%

7%

28%

9%

Figure 19  UK airlines employment structure45

8.19 Training can also be a significant 
commercial activity in its own right. 
Pilot training schools, for example, 
attract significant international income. 
The UK is regarded as providing high 
quality pilot training and is able to attract 
candidates from all over the world. The 
UK has also, along with other European 
countries such as France and Germany, 
been a leading force in developing high 
safety standards. This is expertise that 
has been successfully exported.

Skills development 

8.20 In an industry that relies on a highly 
skilled workforce, developing skilled 
individuals is critical, especially during 
periods of growth which could lead to a 

45 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Airline data

future shortage of skilled professionals, 
such as designers and pilots. A career  
as a pilot is still seen to be well rewarded 
but the costs (approximately £100,000 
per pilot) and length of training (on 
average two years) may deter potential 
recruits and result in a lack of diversity. 
The financial barriers do not fully explain 
the low numbers of female pilots, 
which are on average just 5%46, so the 
government would welcome views on 
this. Industry groups are aware that the 
lack of diversity reduces the talent pool 
that they can draw from, and there is 
some good practise among airlines to 
try to improve diversity among pilots. 
One recent positive development was 
the launch of easyJet’s initiative to 
increase the recruitment of female pilots.

8.21 The government’s Transport 
Infrastructure Skills Strategy set 
out an ambition for 20% of new 
entrants to engineering and technical 
apprenticeships in the transport 
sector to be women by 2020.47 One 
of the commitments of this strategy 
was to establish a Transport Skills 
Apprenticeship Taskforce, which has 
recently broadened its scope to now 
include aviation. 

46 Civil Aviation Authority (2015): Flight crew licensing 
statistics

47 UK Government (2016) Transport Infrastructure 
Skills StrategyPage 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-infrastructure-skills-strategy-building-sustainable-skills
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-infrastructure-skills-strategy-building-sustainable-skills


71Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

8.22 The aviation industry supports 
thousands of highly skilled and high 
value technical and engineering jobs. 
However some stakeholders have 
expressed concerns about shortages 
of science, technology, engineering 
and maths – the ‘STEM’ skills. This is a 
concern for the space and aerospace 
sectors, in which the need for very 
highly skilled, technically capable 
graduates and workers is critical 
in the maintaining and expansion 
of our domestic space sector. The 
government’s consultation on Building 
our Industrial Strategy48 detailed a 
plan to create a new system of high 
quality technical education that will 
meet employer’s demands for more 
STEM graduates. The development 
of apprenticeships is another way in 
which the shortfall in STEM skills can be 
improved upon. The apprenticeship levy 
came into force in April 2017 and has 
provided the impetus for groups such 
as the Aviation Industry Skills Board 
(AISB) to work in partnership to develop 
apprenticeship standards. 

8.23 Airports play an important role in local 
communities by delivering training, skills 
and jobs. For example, the industry 
has some good practice in terms of 
working with local colleges to provide 
engineering training programmes. One 
example is Flybe’s partnership with 
Exeter University to provide a four year 

48 UK Government (2017): Building our Industrial 
Strategy

programme for aircraft engineers. The 
airline focuses on installing a workplace 
culture to give recruits a seamless 
transition into work. Graduates have 
a very high success rate of finding 
employment, either with Flybe itself, or 
with other airlines. Another pathway for 
skills development has been general 
aviation, which has historically been a 
driver of British achievement and has 
the potential to do so again. 

Challenges for the future
8.24 The UK is a global leader in innovation 

and aviation technology. This is a 
product of its significant aerospace 
manufacturing base and research 
strengths. However, with new 
manufacturing markets opening up 
in Asia and elsewhere, we need to 
maintain the UK’s strong position, 
safeguarding the manufacturing base 
and jobs while encouraging new 
technologies that could influence the 
future of aviation and benefit the UK as 
a whole. As well as changes to existing 
aircraft design and emerging propulsion 
systems, this includes embracing new 
technologies such as drones and 
personal air transport vehicles to realise 
maximum benefits while maintaining our 
world-leading safe regulatory regime. 

Page 89



72 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Harnessing the potential of new 
technologies

8.25 It is not just drones and spaceflight 
technologies that could affect the UK 
and global aviation markets. Several 
organisations are looking at new 
technologies such as personal air 
mobility vehicles or electric regional 
aircraft (carrying up to 100 passengers). 
There are technical challenges to 
overcome, as well as a host of other 
issues brought about by the blurring 
of lines between traditional transport 
modes and integrating such new 
technologies with existing physical, 
digital and regulatory infrastructure. 

8.26 These challenges can also offer many 
opportunities, such as benefits that 
could be realised through connectivity 
with other digital and data services as 
part of smart and connected cities. The 
government wants to explore whether 
it is appropriate to engage more 
proactively in specific technologies. 
These technologies might otherwise 
represent lost opportunities if developed 
and implemented elsewhere, but 
which ultimately may not find a place 
in society. It wants to explore the role 
of horizon scanning and building and 
influencing technology planning, while 
also learning from previous experiences 
where government did not react 
quickly or in the right way to support 
technology and innovation in the UK. 

8.27 The government is also conscious that 
around 80% of what is developed and 
manufactured by the UK’s aerospace 
sector is exported. It is therefore 
keen to see how it can exploit better 
horizon scanning and planning, and 
support technologies which may 
not currently have a place in the UK, 
but which offer significant export 
potential. It also wants to look at how 

it should meet the data and security 
challenges of new technologies, how 
government and industry should work 
to support the public acceptance of 
these technologies, and the role of 
government in identifying and delivering 
supportive infrastructure (such as traffic 
management systems). 

Meeting the environmental challenge

8.28 There are many drivers in the 
development of aircraft technology, not 
least environmental regulations and 
targets (such as carbon, particulates 
and noise), operating costs and 
maintaining a competitive position 
in a growing sector. These can drive 
innovation in enabling sustainable 
growth. However, these requirements 
can often conflict, requiring trade-offs in 
development. This is something which 
government needs be aware of when 
setting such targets and regulations. 

Making the most of data and digital

8.29 The government wants to encourage 
innovative uses for existing data, while 
making best use of new data as it 
becomes available. The provision 
of the UK’s ASAs in digital form is 
one such example. By making this 
information more accessible, we can 
reduce the burdens on operators 
and potentially give them the ability 
to provide consumers with a greater 
choice of routes. There is an interesting 
symmetry between the use of data in 
the development of technology, and 
new technology being developed which 
provides for the collection and use of 
more and better data. This includes the 
use of drones and satellites in collecting 
surveying and mapping data, providing 
digital services such as mobile and 
internet coverage, and the provision of 
better in-flight communications.

Page 90



73Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Taking a design-led approach

8.30 Taking a more strategic approach to 
design could be particularly important 
in driving innovation and growth in 
the aerospace sector. The Leading 
Business by Design project highlighted 
some ways in which the aerospace 
sector could benefit from the better 
use of design.49 The government is 
interested in how all businesses across 
the supply chain can benefit from taking 
a design-led approach and whether this 
is an area that ought to be explored as 
part of the Aviation Strategy.

Government’s role as an enabler

8.31 Some innovations require significant 
research and development spending, 
with long and very uncertain pay-offs. 
Without government support, such 
innovation may never come to fruition. 
The government wants to consider 
how it can support innovation without 
distorting the market, and whether 
it is targeting support for SMEs to 
encourage new market entrants and 
enable innovation. The government has 
already formed a strategic partnership 
with industry through the AGP, which 
has stimulated closer working together 
amongst UK aerospace companies to 
address the challenges faced by the 
sector. 

8.32 There is also the question of how 
large a role government should play in 
supporting research and development. 
Typically, government supports research 
at early levels, but requires the market 
to carry the cost as technologies get 
closer to market, as the risks are paid 
off by the profits that firms can make. 
For some technologies there is a risk 
that although there are great social 

49 Design Council (2015): Leading Business by 
Design – Aerospace sector

benefits, the private profits to be made 
are not great enough, or are dispersed 
to make development viable. There 
is also a challenge for investors and 
developers of new technologies, who 
have upfront development costs but 
may not realise the benefits in the 
short term. There may be a role for 
government in setting the conditions 
of government support for new market 
entrants and co-ordinating potential 
investors and beneficiaries. Without 
picking winners, there is also potential 
for ensuring that the technologies 
identified which seem most likely to 
come to market are supported through 
the government’s regulatory approach.

Page 91



74 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Developing the skills to succeed

8.33 The government will explore the issues 
which prevent a more diverse mix 
of people from taking up careers as 
pilots and engineers and will consider 
whether skills shortages are likely in the 
near future. It wants to encourage the 
industry to plan for the longer term and 
invest in future skills requirements. DfT, 
in partnership with likeminded countries, 
is looking to develop and enhance 
an aviation security professional 
qualification for aviation security 
personnel in the UK and overseas in the 
coming years. The government will also 
consider what can be done to ensure 
that UK skills in aviation and aerospace 
are being properly promoted, especially 
in areas where the UK is a world leader 
(such as safety, security, air traffic 
management and pilot training). 

Questions for the strategy
8.34 The government is interested in 

exploring the following issues as part 
of the planned consultation on this 
objective:

• how the government could 
encourage the more rapid 
development and deployment of 
new technology in aviation, and its 
role in encouraging innovation

• whether government can do more 
in encouraging the use of data in 
supporting innovation

• how regulatory frameworks 
should reflect the rapid pace of 
development in technology and 
bring benefits to passengers and 
the industry, while maintaining a 
stable and certain legal framework

• whether there are other significant 
drivers of innovation (beside 
environmental constraints 

and maintaining a competitive 
advantage) for the government  
to consider in the longer-term view 
to 2050

• how government and industry could 
work to identify which emerging 
technologies are likely to have a 
significant impact in the market

• what the roles of government and 
industry are in addressing the public 
perception and behavioural changes 
required for these technologies to 
be successful and accepted

• whether there are skills shortages 
and what the barriers to diversity are 
in the aviation sector

• what skills the sector requires 
to maintain its competiveness in 
the future and what the role for 
government is in developing them

Page 92



75Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Glossary

AAIB Air Accident Investigation Branch

ACL Airport Coordination Limited

ADR Alternative Dispute Resolution

AGP Aerospace Growth Partnership

AISB Aviation Industry Skills Board

ANSP Airports and Air Navigation Service 
Provider

APD Air Passenger Duty

ASA Air Services Agreement

ATFI Air Trade Facilitation Index

ATI Aerospace Technology Institute

ATM Air Traffic Management

ATOL Air Transport Operators Licence

BEIS Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy

BOAC British Overseas Airways 
Corporation

BSAA British South American Airways 
Corporation

CAA Civil Aviation Authority

CMA Competition and Markets Authority

CORSIA Carbon Offsetting and Reduction 
Scheme for International Aviation

DfT Department for Transport

DIT Department for International Trade

DPA Data Protection Act

EASA European Aviation Safety Agency

ECAC European Civil Aviation 
Conference

EFFI eFreight Friendliness Index

EU European Union

FAA-AST Federal Aviation Administration

FOIA Freedom of Information Act 2000

GA General Aviation

GBASF General and Business Aviation 
Strategic Forum

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GMBM Global Market-Based Measure

HGV Heavy Goods Vehicle

IATA International Air Transport 
Association

ICAO International Civil Aviation 
Organisation

ICCAN Independent Commission on Civil 
Aviation Noise

MACC Marginal Abatement Cost Curve

MAG Manchester Airport Group

MEA Manchester Enterprise Academy

NATEP National Aerospace Technology 
Exploitation Programme

NGO Non-Government Organisation

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

NPS National Policy Statement

NSL NSL (National Sealants & 
Lubricants) Aerospace

Page 93



76 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

NVQ National Vocational Qualification

PRM Passengers with Reduced Mobility

PSO Public Service Obligation

R&D Research & Development

R&T Research & Technology

SEMS Security Management Systems

SES Single European Sky

SME Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprise

STEM Science, Technology, Engineering 
and Maths

TRL Technology Readiness Level

Page 94



77Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Annex A: Questions on the call for evidence

Questions about you

1 What is your name and email address?

2 What is the nature of your interest and involvement in the aviation sector?

3 Are you responding on behalf of an organisation or as an individual?

Questions on the Aviation Strategy’s aim and objectives

4 In what order of importance should the policy challenges listed below be tackled? 
Please tell us why you have suggested this order of importance.

Policy challenges

• keeping pace with consumer expectations

• maintaining high levels of safety and security

• expanding our access to markets and trade

• encouraging competitiveness 

• meeting increasing demand through sustainable growth

• keeping pace with technology and developing skills for the future

5 The strategy’s aim and objectives are:

Aim and objectives

Aim: To achieve a safe, secure and sustainable aviation sector that meets the needs of 
consumers and of a global, outward facing Britain

The strategy will have the following six objectives:

• help the aviation industry work for its customers

• ensure a safe and secure way to travel

• build a global and connected Britain

• encourage competitive markets

• support growth while tackling environmental impacts

• develop innovation, technology and skills

What are your views on the proposed aim and objectives?

Page 95



78 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Questions on the policy making process

6 The strategy’s policy principles are:

Strategy principles

• consumer focused – it will put passengers and businesses at the centre of everything  
we do

• market driven – it will emphasise the role of government as an enabler, helping to make 
the market work effectively

• evidence led – it will target intervention on specific problems which government can 
address, avoiding activity that does not respond to a clear problem

What are your views on the proposed principles?

7 The policy tests for the development of the strategy are:

Policy tests

• What is the rationale for action? 

This will remain focused on what the government is trying to achieve, not just in terms 
of outputs (such as the publication of an Aviation Strategy), but the final outcome for the 
sector and society.

• What is government’s role? 

This will look at the need for government action to fix an identified problem, or whether 
activity is better carried out by others.

• What does the evidence say? 

This is a test of whether the government is using the best available evidence and whether 
there is anything that could be done to improve the information and data available to 
decision makers. 

• Have all of the options been considered? 

This will ask whether there are other approaches that may not have previously been 
considered. 

• What is the effectiveness of any proposed action? 

This will ask whether government has considered the practicalities of policy decisions and 
if these have been properly discussed with those affected or who have an interest.

What are your views on the proposed policy tests?

Page 96



79Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Specific question on utilising existing runways

8 What are your views on the government’s proposal to support airports throughout the 
UK making the best use of their existing runways, subject to environmental issues being 
addressed?

Questions on the consultation process

9 This document sets out the questions that the government would like to explore in 
developing the Aviation Strategy, within each of the six objectives that have been 
identified. These can be found at the end of chapters 3-8. 

Are there any other specific questions on the six objectives that you think should be 
included in the planned consultations? 

10 Are there any other sources of information or evidence that the government should bear 
in mind when developing the strategy? 

11 If yes, please give us some details of the sources of information or evidence.

12 Does the proposed timetable (set out in chapter 2), provide enough time to examine the 
issues in sufficient depth?

13 If no, please provide feedback on the timescale here.

14 What action could the government take in order to ensure that the maximum number of 
people, communities and organisations are engaged in the process and are able to have 
their views heard? 

15 Would your organisation be willing to take part or help organise events to help the 
development of the strategy?

16 Are there any issues which we have not covered in this document which you think 
should be included in the consultation process? 

If yes, please describe what you think these issues are.

Other comments

17 Do you have any other comments on the issues raised by this call for evidence? If 
so, you can either give these in your response to this consultation, or in the themed 
consultations which we have planned for each of the objectives.

Page 97



80 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Annex B: How to respond

Consultation period

The consultation period on this call for 
evidence began on 21 July 2017 and will run 
until 13 October 2017. Please ensure that 
your response reaches us before the closing 
date. If you would like further copies of this 
consultation document, it can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/dft#consultations or you 
can contact aviationstrategy@dft.gsi.gov.
uk or telephone 0300 330 3000 if you need 
alternative formats (Braille, audio CD, etc).

Please use the online form at https://
aviationstrategy.campaign.gov.uk to respond 
to this consultation. Alternatively, consultation 
responses can be emailed directly to: 
aviationstrategy@dft.gsi.gov.uk

If responding by post please send to:

Aviation Strategy 
Department for Transport  
33 Horseferry Road 
London  
SW1P 4DR

When responding, please state whether 
you are responding as an individual or 
representing the views of an organisation. If 
responding on behalf of a larger organisation, 
please make it clear who the organisation 
represents and, where applicable, how the 
views of members were assembled.

Consultation principles

The consultation is being conducted in line 
with the government’s key consultation 
principles which are listed below. Further 
information is available at https://www.gov.
uk/government/publications/consultation-
principles-guidance 

If you have any comments about the 
consultation process please contact:

Consultation Co-ordinator 
Department for Transport  
Zone 1/29 Great Minster House 
London  
SW1P 4DR

Email consultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk

Page 98

https://aviationstrategy.campaign.gov.uk
https://aviationstrategy.campaign.gov.uk
mailto:aviationstrategy@dft.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
mailto:consultation@dft.gsi.gov.uk


81Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Freedom of Information

Information provided in response to this 
consultation, including personal information, 
may be subject to publication or disclosure in 
accordance with the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 (FOIA) or the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004.

If you want information that you provide to be 
treated as confidential, please be aware that, 
under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of 
Practice with which public authorities must 
comply and which deals, amongst other 
things, with obligations of confidence.

In view of this it would be helpful if you 
could explain to us why you regard the 
information you have provided as confidential. 
If we receive a request for disclosure of the 
information, we will take full account of your 
explanation, but we cannot give an assurance 
that confidentiality can be maintained in all 
circumstances. An automatic confidentiality 
disclaimer generated by your IT system  
will not, of itself, be regarded as binding  
on the Department. 

The Department will process your  
personal data in accordance with the  
Data Protection Act (DPA) and in the  
majority of circumstances this will mean  
that your personal data will not be  
disclosed to third parties.

Page 99



82 Beyond the horizon: The future of aviation in the UK

Photographic acknowledgements

Document placement Credit

Front cover Shutterstock

Page 9, after 1.3 Gatwick Airport

Page 13, before 1.11 Heathrow Airport

Page 15, after 1.19 Copyright 
Hufton+Crow

Page 16, after 1.23 Shutterstock

Page 22, after 2.11 Robert Griffiths

Page 27, above 3.3 Gatwick Airport

Page 28, after 3.9 Heathrow Airport

Page 30, after 3.18 Gatwick Airport

Page 31, after 3.22 Liverpool Airport

Page 32, after 3.24 Copyright 
Hufton+Crow

Page 34, after 4.3 Copyright 
Hufton+Crow

Page 35, before 4.4 Heathrow Airport

Page 36, after 4.9 Copyright 
Hufton+Crow

Page 37, after 4.13 Gatwick Airport

Page 39, after 4.17 Shutterstock

Page 42, after 5.4 Robert Griffiths

Page 45, after 5.12 CAA

Page 46, after 5.15 Shutterstock

Document placement Credit

Page 49, after 6.7 Liverpool Airport

Page 50, after 6.13 CAA

Page 51, after 6.18 Robert Griffiths

Page 53, after 7.2 Copyright 
Hufton+Crow

Page 54, after 7.8 Shutterstock

Page 56, after 7.15 Liverpool Airport

Page 57, after 7.17 CAA

Page 58, before 7.21 Gatwick Airport

Page 59, after 7.27 CAA

Page 60, after 7.32 Shutterstock

Page 62, after 7.39 Tim Malseed The 
BIG Partnership

Page 64, after 8.1 CAA

Page 67, after 8.13 Shutterstock

Page 70, after 8.21 easyJet

Page 71, after 8.22 Tim Malseed The 
BIG Partnership

Page 71, after 8.24 British Glider 
Association

Page 73, after 8.32 CAA

Page 74, after 8.34 Shutterstock

Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Aviation Strategy: call for evidence
Personal details 
 

1. Your: 

name?   to be completed
email?   to be completed
 

2. What is the nature of your: 

interest in the 
aviation 
sector?  

 to be completed

involvement in 
the aviation 
sector?  

 to be completed

 

3. Are you responding: *

Y on behalf of an organisation? (Go to “Organisational details”)?

  as an individual? (Go to “Aviation Strategy”)

Organisational details 
 

4. What is your organisation's name? 

 
Uttlesford District Council

Page 103



Aviation Strategy 
 
Aim of strategy

To achieve a safe, secure and sustainable aviation sector that meets the needs of the 
consumers and of a global, outward facing Britain.

Strategy objectives

The strategy will have the following 6 objectives: 

• help the aviation industry work for its customers
• ensure a safe and secure way to travel
• build a global and connected Britain
• encourage competitive markets
• support growth while tackling environmental impacts
• develop innovation, technology and skills

5. What are your views on the proposed aim and objectives? 

 The Council’s main concern is with the fifth objective.  It does not consider that tackling the 
environmental impacts of aviation should be seen in the final Aviation Strategy just as a sub-text 
of supporting growth.  This may not be the intention, but it is certainly how it could be read.  

Paragraph 3.3 of the 2013 Aviation Policy Frameworks (APF) sets out the Government’s policy of 
future aviation growth ensuring that benefits are shared between the aviation industry and local 
communities.  The Council considers that this is an important aspect of sustainability which 
should be carried forward into any new Strategy.  However, the new Strategy should still require 
airport operators to reduce the current environmental impact of existing airport operations even 
when growth is not being proposed, such as via Noise Action Plans and Surface Access 
Strategies.  It is therefore suggested that there should be two objectives:

support sustainable aviation growth

reduce the environmental impact of existing airport operations

 

6. Do you have a view on the order the objectives should be tackled? *

Y  Yes (Go to question 7)

  No (Go to Strategy principles)
 

7. In what order of importance do you think the objectives should be tackled (please rank 
the challenges 1 = highest priority, 6 = lowest priority)? 

Ensure a safe and secure way to travel   1
Support growth while tackling environmental impacts   2
Encourage competitive markets   6
Build a global and connected Britain   5

Page 104



Develop future innovation, technology and skills   3
Help the aviation industry work its customers   4

Why?  
 Safety and security should be a given, so doesn’t really need to be identified as a separate 
objective.

With an expanding civil airport within its district, the Council considers that managing the 
environmental impact of aviation growth (one of the key arms of sustainability) is of prime 
importance to residents and visitors.  The next important has to be innovation, technology 
and skills development, which the Council takes very seriously, and which is essentially a 
local issue.  To this end the Council has recently granted planning permission for a technical 
skills college at Stansted Airport in connection with Harlow College.  Once opened, this will 
be the first further education establishment within the district.  The college will deliver 
learning programmes for 16-19 year olds and will cater for apprentices of all ages to meet 
skills gaps in aircraft engineering and match the growing skills need of the airport and the 
wider area, particularly the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor.  

Without technological innovation and skills development within the aviation industry, it is 
considered that the other three objectives would become more difficult.  It is about having 
the right tools to do the job.  Accordingly, the objectives relating to competitiveness, 
connectivity and customer experience (whilst undoubtedly very important) are given lower 
rankings. 
 
The Council recognises that local authorities which host regional airports may attach greater 
weight to connectivity.

Strategy principles 
 

 Consumer focused - it will put passengers and businesses at the centre of everything we 
do

 Market driven - it will emphasise the role of government as an enabler, helping to make 
the market work effectively

 Evidence led - it will target intervention on specific problems which government can 
address, avoiding activity that does not respond to a clear problem

8. What are your views on the proposed strategy principles? 

 The Council questions whether the constituent counts as a consumer?  Passengers and 
businesses are referred to, but what about residents?  Following a meeting between SASIG’s 
Head of Secretariat and senior officers at the DfT, the Council understands that there is a 
sentiment in Government that the 2013 APF erred too far in favour of environmental arguments 
over growth, although any change in relative weights between environment vs growth in the APF 
and the new Strategy may only be marginal.  The Council refers to the answer it gave to 
Questions 5 and 7 in terms of the importance that it attaches to dealing with the environmental 
impacts of aviation.

Page 105



Policy tests 
 

 What is the rationale for action?
- This will remain focused on what the government is trying to achieve, not just in 

terms of outputs such as the publication of an Aviation Strategy, but the final 
outcome for the sector and society

 What is government's role?
- This will look at the need for government action to fix an identified problem, or 

whether activity is better carried out by others
 What does the evidence say?

- This is a test of whether the government is using the best available evidence and 
whether there is anything that could be done to improve the information and data 
available to decision makers

 Have all the options been considered?
- This will ask whether there are other approaches that may not have previously 

been considered
 What is the effectiveness of any proposed action?

- This will ask whether government has considered the practicalities of policy 
decisions and if these have been properly discussed with those affected or who 
have an interest    

9. What are your views on the proposed policy tests? 

 The proposed policy tests seem reasonable and run in a logical order. 

Policy test 2 (government role) Any assessment under this test must include consideration of the 
local resources that are available to carry out the task.  The Council is aware that DfT is currently 
carrying out a burdens assessment on a possible role for local authorities for ensuring noise 
related operating restrictions are adopted in line with EU Regulations, and is engaging with 
SASIG on this issue.

Policy test 4 (options) There is always merit in setting out what options have been considered 
and discounted, and for what reason, or reasons.  This can aid understanding of the final option 
and why it was chosen.  

Policy test 5 (effectiveness) The Council presumes that the discussions referred to will be those 
undertaken as part of the Phase 2 topic papers.  There will also be a need to monitor the 
effectiveness of policy decisions post-implementation.  The new Strategy should set out how this 
will be done, and what options there are should policy not have had the desired effect. 

Utilising existing runways 
 

10. What are your views on the government's proposal to support airports throughout the 
UK making best use of their existing runways, subject to environmental issues being 
addressed? 

 The first question that the Council has is what is meant by “best” use of existing runways, and 
this should be defined by the Government.  Whilst noting the reference to more intensive use of 
existing airport capacity in Paragraph 7.20, the Council assumes “best” use would allow for 
sufficient resilience to quickly recover from external shocks that disrupt timetables.  This will be of 
importance to consumers in a future strategy that is truly consumer focussed.  “Best” use is 

Page 106



therefore unlikely to equate to “maximum” use of a single runway.  Perhaps the Government 
should refer to “most efficient” use instead.

It seems to the Council that the support that the Government wishes to give is akin to publishing 
a short term “other airports” Airports National Policy Statement (ANPS), but without the level of 
detail that will be contained in the to-be-designated ANPS, which is Heathrow based.  The 
Council considers that it is inevitable that the requirements of the to-be-designated ANPS will 
become a benchmark for the consideration of all planning applications for airport expansion, 
particularly the use of noise metrics, and the principles surrounding the provision of mitigation 
and compensation.     

The Government must make it clear that its support is in-principle only and does not usurp the 
planning process.  To this end, the Council welcomes what is said in Paragraph 7.21 about 
planning applications needing to be judged on individual merits.  Paragraph 7.21 highlights 
environmental issues such as noise and air quality as being important considerations in the 
determination of planning applications, but the Council considers that surface access should also 
merit a specific separate reference. In the APF (Paragraph 5.11) the Government states that: 

“All proposals for airport development must be accompanied by clear surface access proposals 
which demonstrate how the airport will ensure easy and reliable access for passengers, increase 
the use of public transport by passengers to access the airport, and minimise congestion and 
other local impacts”.

This consumer focussed principle should be clearly restated in any Government support.  The 
Council suggests Government support should also be dependent upon measures to reduce kiss 
and fly movements (the most polluting) and appropriate car park management as part of surface 
access strategies.

The Council understands that publication of the DfT’s latest aviation forecasts (2017) was 
delayed both by the election and by more modelling work.  These forecasts should be published 
in a timely manner as they will be needed to back up and justify Government support.

Consultation process 
 
The consultation document lists the questions that the government would like to explore 
in developing the aviation strategy within each of the 6 objectives that have been 
identified (chapters 3 to 8).

11. Are there any other specific questions on the 6 objectives that you think should be 
included in the planned consultations? *

  Yes (Go to question 12)
N  No (Go to question 13)
 

12. What other questions would you like considered? 

N/A 

Page 107



13. Are there any other sources of information or evidence that the government should 
bear in mind when developing the strategy? *

Y  Yes (Go to question 14) 

  No (Go to question 15)

14. What sources of information or evidence? 

 The CAA’s current consultation on aviation noise impacts which closes in January 2018.

The recent Which survey on the UK’s best and worst airports.

 

15. Does the proposed timetable (chapter 2), provide enough time to examine the existing 
issues in sufficient depth? *

Y  Yes (Go to question 17)

  No (Go to question 16)
 

16. What timetable would you suggest and why? 

 N/A

 

17. What action could the government to make sure that the maximum number of people, 
communities and organisations are engaged in the process and are able to have their 
views heard? 

 Phase 2 of the consultation will involve the publication of a number of topic papers which the 
Council presumes will have a lot of detailed technical content.  The Government needs to ensure 
that each topic paper is accompanied by, or includes, a non-technical summary specifically 
dealing with the questions that lay people could easily answer.  The first topic paper on customer 
service issues should present a good opportunity for the Government to ask fairly straightforward 
open questions relating to such things as likes and dislikes about aviation.  

During the course of each topic paper consultation the Government might wish to issue 
occasional reminders and prompts, perhaps focussing on one or two key issues in that topic 
paper.

Page 108



Other comments 
 

18. Do you have any other comments on the issues raised by this call for evidence? *

Y  Yes (Go to question 19)

  No (Go to Organisational help)
 

19. What comments? 

As the Government says that the new Strategy will cover the whole country, it needs to make it 
clear how it will dovetail with the to-be-designated ANPS.  The Council questions whether there 
will be a need for a second “other airports” ANPS, as the scope of the new Strategy does not 
seem to take into account or proclaim upon the differing needs of the UK’s regions.  As 
previously mentioned, it seems to the Council that the support the Government refers to in 
Question 10 would be akin to a short term “other airports” ANPS, but without the level of detail 
contained in the to-be-designated ANPS. 

Back in February of this year, the DfT said that its consultation on UK Airspace Policy formed a 
key pillar in the development of the Aviation Strategy.  Again, it will be important to see how the 
one relates to the other.  A triumvirate of documents (ANPS, Aviation Strategy, UK Airspace 
Policy) could weigh against easy understanding. 

The Council considers that the new Strategy should cover the following points:

1) A specific statement on Brexit policy, as this is clearly of major importance to the industry in 
the short term, affecting forward planning and passenger forecasting.  Chapter 5 does refer to 
the connectivity challenge that Brexit brings, but that is only one of the Brexit aviation issues, and 
connectivity would still be a challenge even if the UK was not leaving the EU.  Indeed, 
connectivity featured heavily in the Airports Commission’s discussion paper on Airport 
Operational Models well before the EU Referendum took place.  Depending upon when 
individual planning applications for airport expansion are submitted, local planning authorities 
may be tasked with determining them with the backdrop of all the uncertainty that Brexit will 
bring, especially around assumptions about forecasting and employment growth.

2) The need for a replacement for PPG24 (Planning and Noise), although the Council regards 
the recent document published by the Institute of Acoustics (ProPG:  Planning and Noise – New 
Residential Development) as a useful starting point.  Industrywide action is needed on this in 
conjunction with the Government.  On a related point, the Council also has concerns about the 
freedoms imposed by Classes M to Q of Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015. Under Classes M to Q, change of use of some 
buildings to dwellinghouses can be permitted development with either no or (in some cases) 
limited consideration of the impact of noise on prospective residents, including in locations in 
close proximity to an airport.  The way the legislation is currently worded therefore seems to run 
contrary to the aim of the ICAO Balanced Approach in using land use planning and management 
as a noise reduction measure. 

3) A clear re-iteration of Government aerodrome safeguarding policy and responsibility.  There 
does not seem to be a “go to” organisation that can help a local planning authority if it has a 

Page 109



query over interpretation of current policy, which may well relate to public safety.  An example of 
this might be where a proposed development straddles a public safety zone.  

4) Clarity over the status of airport masterplans and surface access strategies within the planning 
process and the weight that should be given to them in planning decisions.  Whilst it may not be 
of prime importance to airport operators, the Government should also support local authorities 
which seek to promote airports as local and regional transport interchanges.

5) The need to identify and deal with pinch points as part of an assessment of a passenger’s 
whole-journey experience.  This will include not only surface access to and from the airport but 
also, for example, Border Control, Air Traffic Control and through-ticketing.  This may be 
something that the first topic paper could look at in some detail.  It does seem from the recent 
Which survey on the UK’s best and worst airports that there is plenty of work to do on alleviating 
pinch points at some airports.

6) Public health and how it is affected by aviation, although the Council welcomes what is said in 
Paragraphs 7.30 – 7.33 particularly about looking at whether a new approach to reducing noise 
annoyance is needed, as well as identifying new forms of compensation and community 
investment.

Organisational help 
 

20. If you are responding on behalf of an organisation, would your organisation be willing 
to: 

Your answer

take part in helping 
development of the strategy?

 Yes.  The Council is a member of SASIG, and 
is happy to work with that organisation and the 
Government to develop the new Strategy.

  
help organise events to help the 
development of the strategy?   

Page 110


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 "Beyond the Horizon. The Future of UK Aviation". A Call for Evidence by HM Government on a New Aviation Strategy.
	Aviation Strategy Report
	Foreword
	Executive summary
	1.	Our aviation story – past, present and future 
	The past – a history of success 
	The present – the importance of aviation to Britain
	The future – challenges 
and opportunities 

	2.	Towards a new Aviation Strategy
	The need for a strategy
	Proposed aim and objectives
	Scope and policy approach
	Process and timings

	3.	Help the aviation industry work 
for its customers
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy

	4.	Ensure a safe and secure way to travel 
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy

	5.	Build a global and connected Britain 
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy

	6.	Encourage competitive markets 
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy

	7.	Support growth while tackling environmental impacts 
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy 

	8.	Develop future innovation, 
technology and skills
	Context
	Approach to date
	Challenges for the future
	Questions for the strategy

	Glossary
	Annex A: Questions on the call for evidence
	Annex B: How to respond
	Photographic acknowledgements


	Call for Evidence Response Form


